# A COMPARATIVE STUDY OF ANTIOXIDANT POTENTIALS OF SOME LEAFY VEGETABLES: EMPHASIS ON AFRICAN LEAFY VEGETABLE AND EXOTIC VEGETABLES

SAKHILE MATHE

# Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE IN AGRICULTURE (HORTICULTURAL SCIENCE)

In the

School of Agricultural, Earth and Environmental Sciences College of Agriculture, Engineering and Science University of KwaZulu-Natal Pietermaritzburg

November 2014

# DECLARATION

I, **Sakhile Mathe**, declare that the research reported in this thesis, except where otherwise indicated is my original work. This thesis has not been submitted for any degree or examination at any other university.

Sakhile Mathe November 2014

I certify that the above statement is correct.

Dr. Samson Z. Tesfay Supervisor November 2014

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My sincere gratitude goes to:

**Dr Samson Z. Tesfay**, Discipline of Horticultural Science, University of KwaZulu-Natal, for his supervision of the study from start to completion. The support to the work and his friendly and interactive approach. Above all, his availability whenever needed was the key during the study and many thanks for believing in me from the beginning to the end

My beautiful Mother and Father for all the support, financially and spiritually; the encouragement given in difficult times. This wasn't gonna be possible without them

Nozipho Motsa, Crop science PhD student and a friend

Tandai Polite, MSc crop science student

Vimbai Chimonyo, Crop science PhD student

Room 344 colleagues for all the support and crazy times we had, it was really helpful

All the academic and technical staff of Crop and Horticultural sciences

All My family and friends for the prayers and support they gave me during the study progress

# ABSTRACT

.Due to malnutrition and food insecurity problem around the globe, mainly in developing countries, cheap nutritional food sources are required. In South Africa, a large proportion of the population is considered "poor" and with limited resources. However, South Africa as a whole is rich in indigenous leafy vegetables which have the capacity to help mitigate the problem of malnutrition and food insecurity.

*Amaranthus hybridus*, an African indigenous leafy vegetable was tested for seed quality and potential essential antioxidants. Exotic (to Africa) leafy vegetables (*Brassica oleracea* and *Brassica oleracea var. capitata f. rubra*) were used as references for potential antioxidants.

*Amaranthus hybridus* seed quality was tested using two different coloured seeds, red and white gold. Seed viability and vigor were tested using germination, electrolyte leakage and antioxidant content. Data recorded indicated better seed quality for red seeds than white gold seeds; therefore red coloured seeds were planted along with purchased *Brassica oleracea* and *Brassica oleracea var. capitata f. rubra* for quantifying antioxidant content.

Selected antioxidant types were measured on weekly harvests of the studied vegetables. From the results it was evident that the indigenous leafy vegetable amaranth with total antioxidants [FRAP(3174.91 mmol Fe<sub>2</sub> SO4  $100g^{-1}$  DW) and DPPH(8.3 mmol trollox  $100g^{-1}$ )], proteins (6.88 mg.g-1 DW), total phenols ( 345 mg  $100g^{-1}$  DW), flavonoids (79 mg  $100g^{-1}$  DW), Chlorophyll and carotenoids (2.8 mg  $100g^{-1}$  DW), ascorbic acid (86 mg  $100g^{-1}$  DW) and soluble sugars (1.07 Brix %), could be used in conjunction with available commercial leafy vegetables to combat malnutrition and food security problems.

Further, these results indicate that in resource limited regions this vegetable can act as a main source of nutrients and a supplement in resource abundant regions of the country and/or continent. Further, analysis of selected enzymatic antioxidants was carried-out on leaf material of the studied vegetable to evaluate the capability of indigenous leafy vegetables to protect themselves against oxidative damage. Indigenous leafy vegetables exhibited high antioxidant activity against lipid peroxidation at early stages of growth and high antioxidant enzyme activity at similar stages thus high capability of mitigating ROS effect. Data obtained from the study indicated that indigenous vegetables are a good source of essential antioxidants which are beneficial to human health; therefore the intensity of their use needs to be increased, especially in areas of high prevalence of malnutrition and diseases.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION	.i
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSi	ii
ABSTRACT ii	ii
TABLE OF CONTACTS	7
LIST OF TABLES vii	ii
LIST OF FIGURESit	X
CHAPTER 1	1
Nutrient and antioxidant enzyme composition of Leafy Vegetables during Different Growth and Development Stages:	1
Comparative nutrient and antioxidant enzyme composition Amaranthus ( <i>Amaranthus hybridus</i> ) and Green and Red Cabbage ( <i>Brassica olaracea and Brassica oleracea var. capitata f. rubra</i> ): A Review	1
1.2 Introduction	1
1.3 Leafy Vegetable Antioxidants	3
1.3.1 Superoxide dismutase (SOD)	4
1.3.2 Catalase (CAT) and peroxidases (POX)	5
1.3.3. Peroxidase (POD)	5
1.3.4 Phenolic compounds	6
1.3.5 Ascorbic acid (Vitamin C)	7
1.3.6 Carotenoids	8
1.4 Carbohydrates	8
1.5 Information on nutritional components of the studied vegetables	0
1.5.1 Green cabbage10	0
1.5.2 Red cabbage10	0
1.5.3 Amaranthus1	1
References:	4
CHAPTER 2	2
Amaranth (Amaranthus hybridus ) seed characterization and Seed quality	2
2.1 Abstract	2
2.2 Introduction	2
2.3 Materials and Methods	4
2.3.1 Seed material	4

2.3.2 Chemicals	24
2.3.3 Germination	24
2.3.4 Electrolyte leakage (EC)	26
2.3.5 Antioxidants assays	27
2.3.6 Statistical analysis	27
2.4 Result and Discussion	27
2.4.1 Standard Germination	27
2.4.2 Seed weight	29
2.4.3 Electrolyte leakage	
2.4.4 Total antioxidants	31
2.5 Conclusion	
References	34
CHAPTER 3	37
Comparative chemical composition of Amaranthus (Amaranthus hybridus) and G	reen and
Red Cabbage (Brassica olaracea and Brassica oleracea var. capitata f. rubra)	
3.1 Abstract	
3.2 Introduction	
3.3 Materials and methods	
3.3.1 Plant material	
3.3.2 Nutrient analysis	
3.3.3 Antioxidants determination	
3.3.7 Phenols	
3.3.8 Flavonoids	
3.3.9 Carotenoids and chlorophyll concentration	40
3.3.11 Vitamin C	40
3.3.12 Soluble sugars	41
3.3.13 Statistical analysis	41
3.4 Results and discussion	41
3.4.1 Total antioxidants	41
3.4.2 Total phenols and Flavonoids	43
3.4.5 Carotenoids and chlorophyll	45
3.4.6 Ascorbic acid (Vitamin C)	49
3.4.7 Total soluble sugars (TSS)	50
3.5 Conclusion	52

References
CHAPTER 4
Assessment of specific antioxidant enzymes of traditional leafy vegetable <i>Amaranthus hybridus</i> compared to exotic leafy vegetables
4.1 Abstract
4.2 Introduction
4.3 Materials and methods
4.3.1 Plant material
4.3.2 Analyses
4.3.2.1 Total soluble protein extraction
4.3.2.2 Total protein assay for determination of enzyme activity60
4.3.2.3 Superoxide dismutase (SOD)60
4.3.2.4 Catalase (CAT) activity assay
4.3.2.5 Peroxide activity (POX) assay
4.3.2.6 Lipid Peroxidation
4.3.2.7 Statistical analysis62
4.4 Results and Discussion
4.4.1 Protein
4.4.2 Lipid peroxidation
4.4.3 Enzymatic antioxidants (POD, CAT, SOD)65
4.4 Conclusions
References
GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION
References74

# LIST OF TABLES

<b>Table 1.1:</b> Amarath production schedule for a year	13
Table 3.1: Formulas used to calculate chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b, total chlorophy	ll and total
carotenoids	42

# **LIST OF FIGURES**

Figure 1.1: Pathways of ROS formation. Reaction 1: the superoxide anion radical (O2•–) is formed by the process of reduction of molecular oxygen mediated by NAD(P)H oxidases, xanthine oxidase. Reaction 2: superoxide radical is dismuted by the superoxide dismutase (SOD) to hydrogen peroxide (H2O2). Reaction 3: Hydrogen peroxide is most efficiently scavenged by the enzyme Glutathione Peroxidase (GPx) which requires glutathione (GSH) as the electron donor. Reaction 4: the oxidized glutathione (GSSG) is reduced back to GSH by the enzyme glutathione peroxidase (Gred) which uses NADPH as the electron donor. Reaction 5: some transition metals (e.g. Fe2+) can breakdown hydrogen peroxide to reactive hydroxyl radical (Fenton reaction). Reaction 6: the superoxide anion radical can combine with nitric oxide (NO) to produce peroxynitrite (ONOO-) (Filaire and Toumi, 2012)......4 Figure 1.2: The shikimate and acetate-malonate pathways. The inter-relationship between flavonoid classes and principal biosynthesis pathways of antioxidant property compounds. Figure 1.3: Basic phenolic compound structures - resorcinol; quercetin; matairenisol Apak et *al.*, (2007)......7 Figure 1.4: Carbohydrates molecules, from simple sugars (glucose, sucrose, lactose) to complex sugars (starch). R-ose is a suffix used to refer to simple sugars when naming sugars according to their chemical and structural makeup (FAO 1997)......9 FIGURE 2.1: Seed of A. hybridus different coloured seeds A- White Gold and B- Red Germination velocity index (GVI) was also measured and it indicates the speed of germination and was calculated using the formulae by Maguire (1962).....27

**FIGURE 3.1:** TAO contents for *Amaranthus hybridus*, *Brassica oleracea*, *brassica oleracea var. capitata f. rubra* over different growing period. Vertical bars represent ± SE. (n=5).44-45

# **CHAPTER 1**

# Nutrient and antioxidant enzyme composition of Leafy Vegetables during Different Growth and Development Stages:

# Comparative nutrient and antioxidant enzyme composition of Amaranthus (Amaranthus hybridus) and Green and Red Cabbage (Brassica olaracea and Brassica oleracea var. capitata f. rubra): A Review

### **1.2 Introduction**

The world population is estimated to be at 6.7 billion to date, and it is estimated to increase up to 9 billion by 2050. Africa is estimated to have a more rapid increase in population, more than 70% compared to that of Asia (UNEP, 2013). The increase in population induces a further increase in demand for food, thus Africa will need to feed more people in the future. Smith (2013) reported that Africa feeds its population below targeted standard of nutrition and food quantities, resulting in malnutrition (FAO 2012). Malnutrition results from food insecurity; it is a condition that is due to a diet where particular nutrients are lacking, in excess, or in the wrong proportion (Schönfeldt and Pretorius, 2011). It is reported to be more prevalent in children and women from developing countries (UNICEF 1997; Fotso and Barthelemy 2006; Feber *et al.*, 2006; DBSA, 2008; Schönfeldt and Pretorius, 2011; WFP, 2013). Food security is a physical and economic access of food by all people in a society at all times for a culturally and nutritionally appropriate healthy and active lifestyle (FAO, 1996). Under this definition, obesity and hunger are equally considered to be a food insecurity challenge facing most of the developing countries (Chappell and LaValle, 2009).

South Africa is among the developing countries facing food insecurity challenge (Van der Merwe, 2011) despite the wealth of indigenous and underutilized crops suitable for a healthy active diet (Haq 2004; Maundu, 2013). Traditional (indigenous) knowledge about most of these crops is usually lost through evolution of lifestyle and farming cultures. Farming has generally evolved into a largely monoculture orientated model due to increases in demand

and returns of certain crops (Norberg-Hodge, 2010). A negative correlation between agriculture and biodiversity has been reported by a number of authors (Perrings, 2001; Chappell and La Valle, 2009), which they described to commercialization of certain crops. This correlation, however, excluded the traditional and underutilized crop species in South Africa, which account for approximately 10% of the world's higher plants population (Odhav *et al.*, 2005). These traditional crops have a potential to fight food security and malnutrition problems in South Africa and the African continent at large. According to Jansen van Rensberg et al., (2007), the consumption of African Leafy Vegetables (ALVs) in South Africa is determined by level of poverty, urbanization, distance to fresh produce and season (Uusiku *et al.*, 2010).

African Leafy Vegetables (ALVs) are indigenous and traditional, they are mostly underutilized (Odhav *et al.*, 2005, Mibei *et al.*, 2011), and yet they present a rich and cheap nutritious diet where leaves, shoots, flowers and seeds may be consumed. They are rich in antioxidants and minerals (Mibei *et al.*, 2011) and used for other necessities either than consumption, like medicinal purposes (Odhav *et al.*, 2005). African Leafy Vegetables (ALVs) are plentiful throughout Africa and they are easily accessible to the predominately 'poor' rural communities, thus serve as an answer to the malnutrition and food security problem in Africa (de Sherbinin, 2008; Fotso and Barthelemy, 2006; Weller *et al.*, 2014; Zere and McIntyre, 2003).

There is a range of Amaranth species widely used in Africa for consumption, *Amaranthus thunbergii* (L), *A. greazicans*, (L), *A. spinosus* (L), *A. deflexus* (L), *A. hypochondriacus* (L), *A. viridus* (L) and *A. hybridus* (L). *Amaranthus hybridus* is one of the indigenous ALVs that has a potential to be used to eradicate food insecurity and malnutrition problems. It is nutritious and easily accessible to rural "poor" communities who are the most affected by food insecurity and malnutrition problem (Europa, 2009). However, it is underutilized and comparably under researched than exotic leafy vegetables. Exotic vegetables have high but comparable antioxidant and nutritional contents to the indigenous leafy vegetables (Amin *et al.*, 2004; Odhav *et al.*, 2005; Singh, 2009). There are numerous reports on anti-oxidative and nutritional properties of the commercial exotic vegetables and their ability to combat free radicals (.....2-3 authors....).

Free radicals are unstable and very reactive molecules having an unpaired electron in the exterior orbit (Fang *et al.*, 2002; Blokhina *et al.*, 2002; Bhattacharjee, 2005). Examples of

oxygen free radicals are superoxide, peroxyl (RO<sub>2</sub>\*), alkoxyl (RO\*), hydroxyl (OH\*), hydroperoxyl (HO<sub>2</sub>\*), organic hydroperoxide (ROOH), etc. (Bhattacharjee, 2005), while Nitric oxide and nitrogen dioxide (\*NO<sub>2</sub>) are two nitrogen free radicals (Fang *et al.*, 2002; Valko *et al.*, 2007). These can be converted to non-radical molecules like hydrogen peroxide, hypochlorous acid (HOCl), hypobromous acid (HOBr), and peroxynitrite (ONOO\*). They are not all bad as they have a role in origin and evolution of life

Adverse effects of these radicals are reduced or minimized by antioxidants Vitamin A, Vitamin C, Vitamin E, polyphenols, glutathione, lycopenes etc. (Amin *et al.*, 2004), which are reducing agents, while enzymatic antioxidants superoxides dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT) and peroxidase (POX) catalyze the reaction of reducing free radicals (Blokhina *et al.*, 2002; Fang *et al.*, 2002). These antioxidants are present in both leaves and seeds; therefore we need to consider both for human consumption. Seeds are a source of life, thus they have to be alive and vigorous to produce sound living plants.

However these commodities are under-utilized and less researched and thus cannot contribute to reducing food insecurity and malnutrition (Schönfeldt and Pretorius, 2012) and chronic vascular diseases caused by free radicals. Research findings would contribute to scientific knowledge about indigenous leafy vegetables and prompt awareness to the scientific and ordinary worlds about the indigenous leafy vegetables nutritional contents, thus commercialization potential.

#### **1.3 Leafy Vegetable Antioxidants**

African Leafy Vegetables (ALVs) are a rich source of nutrients and antioxidants thus can be used for medical and nutritional purposes (Amin *et al.*, 2004; Odhav *et al.*, 2005; Singh, 2009). Their daily intake could help in lowering the incidence of degenerative diseases, cancer and cardiovascular diseases (Amin *et al.*, 2004; Ferreira *et al.*, 2005; Khanam *et al.*, 2012). The antioxidant activity is primarily due to their redox properties which enable them to act as reducing agents, hydrogen donors, singlet oxygen quenchers and metal chealator, thus mitigating the presence of free radicals (Singh *et al.*, 2004; Torres, 2005).

An antioxidant may be defined as "any substance that when present at relatively low concentrations compared with those of the oxidisable substrate; it significantly delays or inhibits oxidation of that substrate" (Apak *et al.*, 2013). Reducing ability of antioxidants does not depend on the quantity rather on quality (Chitintingu *et al.*, 2013).

Antioxidants in plants are present as enzymatic and non-enzymatic, these antioxidants aid in survival of plants in the field but when their sources are harvested and consumed by animals specifically humans they contribute to human health improvement. Enzymatic antioxidants include *Superoxide dismutase (SOD), Catalase (CAT) Peroxidase (POX)*. These antioxidants work in conjunction to each other as to effectively mitigate cell damage from ROS. Some of the individual non-enzymatic antioxidants are carbohydrates (sugar-alcohols), carotenoids, vitamin C, phenolic compounds and proteins.

# 1.3.1 Superoxide dismutase (SOD)

Superoxide dismutase (SOD) is an important enzymatic antioxidant believed to be in the primary defence mechanism in plants cell toxicity (Jithesh *et al.*, 2006; Tesfay, 2009). SODs cause dismutation of superoxide to produce a ROS -  $H_2O_2$  which is a signalling second messenger molecule for abiotic and biotic stress responses in plants (Bhattacharjee, 2005; Jithesh *et al.*, 2006; Tesfay 2009; Filaire and Toumi, 2012). Scavenging of singlet oxygen ( $O_2^-$ ) radicals is achieved by SODs activity of dismutation (Jithesh *et al.*, 2006; Tesfay 2009). Excess  $H_2O_2$  is problematic to plant cell membranes as it is a ROS, thus reduction of  $H_2O_2$  to oxygen ( $O_2$ ) and water ( $H_2O$ ) by glutathione peroxidase enzyme is required.



**Figure 1.1:** Pathways of ROS formation. Reaction 1: the superoxide anion radical ( $O2^-$ ) is formed by the process of reduction of molecular oxygen mediated by NAD(P)H oxidases, xanthine oxidase. Reaction 2: superoxide radical is dismuted by the superoxide dismutase (SOD) to hydrogen peroxide (H2O2). Reaction 3: Hydrogen peroxide is most efficiently scavenged by the enzyme Glutathione Peroxidase (GPx) which requires glutathione (GSH) as the electron donor. Reaction 4: the oxidized glutathione (GSSG) is reduced back to GSH by the enzyme glutathione peroxidase (Gred) which uses NADPH as the electron donor. Reaction 5: some transition metals (e.g. Fe2+) can breakdown hydrogen peroxide to reactive hydroxyl radical (Fenton reaction). Reaction 6: the superoxide anion radical can combine with nitric oxide (NO) to produce peroxynitrite (ONOO-) (Filaire and Toumi, 2012).

# 1.3.2 Catalase (CAT) and peroxidases (POX)

*Catalase* (CAT) and *peroxidase* (POX) catalyze the reduction of  $H_2O_2$  to molecular  $O_2$  and  $H_2O$  which are used by plants in metabolic reaction and photosynthesis (Penter, 1996; Tesfay, 2009; Torres, 2005). Many authors have reported these enzymes as being involved in many stress regulations caused by light, heat, drought, salinity, chemicals, chilling temperature and ozone (Torres, 2005). When plants are able to withstand/respond to harsh environmental conditions they become available for human health consumption and are able to preserve plant reserves for human health and postharvest.

# 1.3.3. Peroxidase (POD)

Peroxidases are a large family of enzymes that catalyse an electron donor reaction (oxidation reaction), they mainly peroxidase enzymes work on hydrogen peroxide substrate, which is a harmful by-product of biochemical reactions (Azevedo *et al.*, 2003). However, other peroxidases are more active with organic hydroperoxides such as lipid peroxides, there are plenty of these enzymes in plants and animals, humans included (Rusha *et al.*, 1985). They are well known for their important defensive role against plant pathogens (Karthikeyan *et al.*, 2005; Atamna and Boyle, 2006).

## 1.3.4 Phenolic compounds

Plant phenols are bioactive substances which form a significant part of our daily diet. They are mainly high in oily fruits and vegetables. They have high healing power due to their antioxidant, anti-tumoral, antiviral and antibiotic properties (Dai and Mumper, 2010). Phenolic compounds represent a large group of 'secondary plant metabolites' which play a critical role in plant environmental adaptation (Podsedek, 2005; Chitindingu *et al.*, 2006; *Silva et al.*, 2006; *Apak et al.*, 2007). Plant phenols help in plant defense against pest, diseases and predators (herbivores). Their metabolic origin is via the pentose phosphate, shikimate pathway and phenylpropanoid metabolism (Eghadami and Sadeghi, 2010), following the phosphoenolpyruvate  $\rightarrow$  phenylalanine  $\rightarrow$  cinnamate  $\rightarrow$  4-coumarate course, leading to chalcone, flavanone, dihydroflavonol, and anthocyanin (*Apak et al.*, 2007) (Figure 1.2).



**Figure 1.2:** The shikimate and acetate-malonate pathways. The inter-relationship between flavonoid classes and principal biosynthesis pathways of antioxidant property compounds. (Rice-Evans *et al.*, 1997).

Phenolics are hydroxylated compounds with at least one aromatic ring with one or more attached –OH groups, both in free and membrane bound state (fig 1.3). Free phenolics are more desirable as they increase the antioxidant property of the phenols in a host (*Apak et al.,* 2007; Tesfay, 2009).



Lignans (e.g., matairesinol)

**Figure 1.3:** Basic phenolic compound structures - resorcinol; quercetin; matairenisol *Apak et al.*, (2007).

## 1.3.5 Ascorbic acid (Vitamin C)

Ascorbic acid (l-ascorbic acid; AsA), extensively known as Vitamin C, is a plant metabolite of multiple functions in both plants and animals (Pastori *et al.*, 2003), reduces ROS cell and membrane damage - regenerates Vitamin E – ( $\alpha$ - tocopherol) from tocopheroxyl radical (Filaire and Toumi 2012; Heaney *et al.*, 2008). It is the main ROS detoxifying compound in aqueous phase as it can donate electrons to both enzymatic and non-enzymatic reactions. Fruits and vegetables provide approximately 85% of Vitamin C to human diet (Podsedek, 2005)

Plants synthesize Vitamin C as a result of response to environmental stress including photoxidation (Torres, 2005) where it acts as a reductant of plant tissue free radicals thus reducing oxidative cell membrane damage (Fuchs 1998; Torres, 2005).

#### 1.3.6 Carotenoids

Carotenoids are organic plant pigments that are found in the chloroplasts and chromoplasts of plants and some other photosynthetic organisms, including some bacteria and some fungi (Mortensen, 2006). Carotenoids beings are hydrocarbons, beta-carotene, alpha-carotene andlycopene and the xanthophylls, or oxygen-containing carotenoids, beta-cryptoxanthin, lutein and zeaxanthin (Krinsky and Johnson, 2005). Animals are unable to synthesise these metabolites thus they are only accessible through consumption of plant material (Fraser and Bramley, 2004). Sources are a range of fruits and vegetables, however mostly its tomato and tomato products that contain high quantities of carotenoids mostly lycopene (Johnson, 2002). Fruits and vegetables that contain high quantities of carotenoids have been associated with decreasing the risk of various age related diseases mostly cancer and site (eye) diseases (Krinsky and Johnson, 2005).

Carotenoids possess antioxidant and prooxidant properties. Carotenoids are found to increase with abiotic and biotic stress, to help protect cells against bruising and mechanical damage of cells from ROS that arise from plant stress, this mechanism of plant cell protection is assumed to be the same with animal's cells when the plants have been consumed (Atkinson *et al.*, 2011).

### **1.4 Carbohydrates**

Carbohydrates are plant metabolites that act as an energy source; for structural components and other functions for plant growth and metabolism (White 1973). They are large biological molecules consisting of carbon (C), hydrogen (H), and oxygen (O) atoms, usually with hydrogen: oxygen atom ratio of 2:1. Carbohydrates containing six carbon molecules are referred to as monosaccharide which are simple sugars, glucose ( $C_6H_{12}O_8$ ) being a common monosaccharide (Tharanathan, 2002).



**Figure 1.4:** Carbohydrates molecules, from simple sugars (glucose, sucrose, lactose) to complex sugars (starch). R-ose is a suffix used to refer to simple sugars when naming sugars according to their chemical and structural makeup (FAO 1997).

Polysaccharides mainly act as storage and structure molecules while simple sugars act as energy suppliers. Grains mainly contain starch while fruits and vegetables contain sugars. Carbohydrates also determine the antioxidants production capacity of the plant. High antioxidant production capacity results in increased cell and cell membrane protection ability. Carbohydrates have been found to increase with increases in abiotic stress. Stress thus ensuring higher membrane protection and enzyme activity as a result of the increased sugar production. This process enables plant survival under harsh environmental conditions and continuous supply of carbohydrates to humans. This cell protection mechanism and energy supply by a plant are assumed to be similar for humans after consuming such plants thus leading to a healthier diet for humans (Morsy *et al.*, 2005; Rosa *et al.*, 2009; Palafox-Carlos *et al.*, 2011).

### 1.5 Information on nutritional components of the studied vegetables

## 1.5.1 Green cabbage

Green cabbage (*Brassica oleracea* or variants) is a green leafy biennial vegetable, but grown as an annual vegetable due to its high density leaves. It is a major crop in South Africa where most of it is produced in Kwa-Zulu Natal. It can grow in diverse climatic regions of diverse climatic conditions and in most of adaptable regions it can be grown throughout the year. The optimum temperatures for growth and development are between 180 and 200 °C. It has ability to withstand frost and cold temperatures up to - 30 °C. It can grow in a variety of soil types ranging from sandy to clayey soils but best prefers well drained, moisture-retentive fertile loamy soils, with pH ranging between 5.5 and 6.5. Soils with pH greater than 6.5 causes leaf margin burn and dark coloured leaves while below 4.5 causes restricted growth and development (DAFF, 2013). Like many other crops consumed today, cabbage was thought of being a weed for many years, but today it is highly valued by consumers and farmers as it is a rich source of nutrients for consumers and high value crop for farmers. A change in nutrient content of raw cabbage against cooked cabbage was reported by Rouzaud et al., (2004), which supports other studies done by Miccozi *et al.* (1985); Amin *et al.*, (2004); Kala & Prakash (2004).

The cabbage is rich source of beta-carotene, Vitamin C and fibre and also shows good characteristics in preventing cancer due to presence of glucosinolates (Steinmetz and Potter 2001; Song and Thornalley 2006). While rich in the mentioned nutrients it also contains several other nutrients like Vitamin E, proteins, iron, and sodium (Nolte, 2013).

## 1.5.2 Red cabbage

Red cabbage (*Brassica oleracea var. capitata f. rubra*) is of high nutritional value as it is rich in minerals, vitamins, oligosaccharides, and a number of bioactive polyphenols, such as anthocyanins, flavonols, and glucosinolates, which have a positive impact on human health (Volden *et al.*, 2008; Wiczkowski *et al.*, 2012). Red cabbage is also valued by consumers for its taste and for being a source of an intensive red colour which increases esthetic value of the food. For these reasons, red cabbage is a frequently consumed vegetable in the form of freshcut salads. In addition, red cabbage is characterized by high shelf-life; therefore it can be easily stored and accessible in a fresh form for a long period (Wiczkowski *et al.*, 2012).

Although it is called red cabbage and known for having purple to red leaves, its colour is mainly depended on the acidity of the soil, when the soil is acidic the leaves appear dark red to purple, while in a neutral solution they become blue and yellowish green in basic (alkaline) solution (Halmenstine, 2013; Nolte, 2013). Red cabbage also has a longer shelf life than green cabbage (Nolte, 2013). Leaf colour is usually associated with anthocyanin content which is a group of flavonoids mainly related to shelf life and ROS scavenging from their antioxidant properties (Wiczkowski *et al.*, 2012). Anthocyanin are composed of anthocynadins and sugars, and sugars act as nutrient reserve for the crop postharvest, therefore higher anthocyanin content may result in longer storage life (He and Giusti, 2010). Other than these benefits, cabbages of red leaf colour have a variety of phytochemicals contents which are beneficial to human health.

Red cabbage has a rich variety of nutrients which are positive to human health, e.g. vitamin A and C, Iron, fiber, phenols and carotenoids but low in sodium (Podsędek, 2007, Wiczkowski *et al.*, 2012, Nolte, 2013). The most abundantly available compound anthocyanins are often associated with the red colour of the crop. The crop requires air temperatures of approximately 25 °C for optimum growth and 18 °C to 25 °C of soil temperature for vigorous seed germination. Growth ceases at temperatures below 18 °C.

Due to its richness in nutrients it is widely used and it is of high value (nutritionally and monetary), but it is somewhat expensive for the poor, thus inaccessible, therefore does not address food and nutrition insecurity. Easily accessible, cheap, readily available and nutritious food products are required. *Amaranthus* is discussed as an ALV that can be used in malnutrition mitigation.

#### 1.5.3 Amaranthus

Amaranth (*Amaranthus hybridus*) is known as *misbredie*, *hanekam*, *varkbossie* in Afrikaans, pigweed, cockscomb and hell's curse in English, *unomdlomboyi*, *imbuya*, *umifino umtyuthu* in isiXhosa, *imbuya*, *isheke*, *indwabaza* in isiZulu, *thepe*, *theepe* in IsiPedi, Sesothoa nd Setswana, *umbuya*, *isheke* in siSwati, *vowa*, *theebe* in Tshivenda, *theyke*, *cheke* in Xitsonga, *mohwa* in Shona and *imbuya*, *tyutu* in Pondo (Van Wyk and Gericke, 2000; Vorster *et al.*, 2002; Jansen van Rensburg *et al.*, 2007).

Amaranthus thunbergii (L), A. greazicans, (L), A. spinosus (L), A. deflexus (L), A. hypochondriacus (L), A. viridus (L) and A. hybridus (L) are among the most widely used

amaranth species in South Africa (Schippers, 2000; Van Wyk and Gericke, 2000; Vorster *et al.*, 2002; Hart and Vorster, 2006; Jansen van Rensburg *et al*, 2007), Amaranth belongs to the Amaranthaceae family (Jansen van Rensburg *et al*, 2007). The young leaves, growth points and *seedlings* are harvested and cooked for human consumption.

Cooked/processed amaranth leaves are a good source of vitamin A, vitamin C, and folate. They are a supplementary source of vitamins such as thiamine, niacin, and riboflavin plus dietary minerals such as calcium, iron, potassium, zinc, copper, and manganese. Cooked amaranth grains are also a complementing source of thiamine, niacin, riboflavin, and folate, and dietary minerals comprising of calcium, iron, magnesium, phosphorus, zinc, copper, and manganese - comparable to common grains such as wheat, oats and others (USDA, 2011).

Amaranth may be a promising source of protein as its protein does not contain gluten like protein found in grains such as wheat and rye (Gruss, 2014). Amaranth nutrient content is comparable with that of gluten-free vegetables and grains such as buckwheat, corn, millet, wild rice, oats and quinoa (Gallagher *et al.*, 2004).

Amaranth seeds contain lysine, an essential amino acid, which is limited in other grains; however, amaranth is also limited in some essential amino acids, such as leucine and threonine (Bressani *et al.*, 1989). Amaranth seeds are therefore a complementary source of essential amino acids which are abundant in other grains such as wheat germ, oats, and corn (Písaíková *et al.*, 2006).

Several studies have shown that like oats, amaranth seed oil may be of benefit for those suffering from hypertension and cardiovascular disease; regular consumption reduces blood pressure and cholesterol levels, while improving antioxidant prominence and some immune parameters (Czerwiński *et al.*, 2004; Martirosyan *et al*, 2007). While the active ingredient in oats appears to be water-soluble fiber, amaranth appears to lower cholesterol via its content of plant stanols and squalene (Czerwiński *et al.*, 2004).

*Amaranth* is known as an extremely variable, erect spreading herb with a height at maturity varying between 0.3 m and 2 m, depending on the species, growth habit and environment (Jansen van Rensburg *et al*, 2007; DAFF, 2010), while its colour is mostly green but they all have a maroon or crimson colour in their stem and leaves (DAFF, 2010). Amaranth seeds need soil temperatures of between 18 °C and 25 °C to germinate and an air temperature above 25 °C for optimum growth. The growth stops at temperatures below 18 °C. It grows well under warm conditions, with drought and adverse condition tolerance however these adverse condition and drought situations induce flowering and low yield (Jansen van Rensburg *et al*, 2007).

*Amaranth* is seldomly planted in South Africa, as it is believed that it will grow naturally, although some parts of the country do plant and harvest amaranth, (Jansen van Rensburg *et al*, 2007). This crop has potential of commercialization as seen to have minimum management requirements and that it is under-utilized, this opens a window as a 'niche' market for farmers. Table 1.1 shows potential planting and harvesting dates published by the South African Department of Agriculture Forestry and Fisheries (2010).

Months	Jan	Feb.	Mar.	April	May	June	July	Aug.	Sept.	Oct.	Nov.	Dec.
Planting												
Harvesting												Î

Adapted: DAFF, 2010

This schedule can be manipulated in commercial agriculture by use of greenhouses, and genetic breeding for other cultivars.

Amaranth remains an active area of scientific research for both human nutritional needs and foraging applications therefore this study aims to explore and contrast the seed and plant nutritional content of red cabbage and amaranth plant.

The study objectives were:

- To explore the seed quality status of *Amaranthus hybridus spp.* with a preliminary seed study
- To compare and contrast the phytonutrient contents of *A. hybridus* with *Brassica olaracea* and *Brassica oleracea var. capitata f. rubra* at different growth stages
- To compare and contrast the enzymatic activity based on protein content of the studied vegetables at different growth stages

## **References:**

- Amin, I, Norazaidah, Y and Hainida, K.I.E. 2004. Antioxidant activity and phenolic content of raw and blanched Amaranthus species. *Food Chem.*, 94, (2006): 47–52.
- Apak, R, Güçlü, K, Demirata B, Özyürek, M, Çelik, S.E, Bektaşoğlu, B, Berker, K.I and Özyurt, D. 2007.Comparative evaluation of various total antioxidant capacity assays applied to phenolic compounds with the CUPRAC assay. *Mol.*, 12: 1496-1547.
- Apak, R, Gorinstein, S, Böhm, V, Schaich, K.M, Özyürek, M and Güçlü, K. 2013. Methods of measurement and evaluation of natural antioxidant capacity/activity (IUPAC Technical Report). *Pure Appl. Chem.*, 85(5): 957–998.
- Atamna, H and Boyle, K .2006. Amyloid-{beta} peptide binds with heme to form a peroxidase: Relationship to the cytopathologies of Alzheimer's disease. P. Ntl. Acad. Sci., 103 (9): 3381–3386.
- Azevedo, A.M, Martins, V.C, Prazeres, D.M.F, Vojinovic´, V, Cabral J.M.S and Fonseca, L.P. 2003. Horseradish peroxidase: a valuable tool in biotechnology. *Biotech. Annual. rev.*, 9: 199-247.
- Atkinson, N.J, Dew, T.P, Orfila, C and Urwin, P.E. 2011. Influence of combined biotic and abiotic stress on nutritional quality parameters in tomato (Solanum lycopersicum). J. Agric. Food Chem., 59(17): 9673-82.
- Bhattacharjee, S. 2005. Reactive oxygen species and oxidative burst: Roles in stress, senescence and signal transduction in plants. *Curr. Sci.*, 89(7): 1113-1121.
- Blokhina, O, Virolainen, E and Fagerstedt, K.V. 2002. Antioxidants, Oxidative damage and oxygen deprivation stress: A Review. *Annals. bot.*, 9, (2003): 179-194.
- Bressani, R, Elias G and Garcia-Soto A. 1989. Limiting amino acids in raw and processed amaranth grain protein from biological tests. *Plant Foods Hum. Nutr.*, 39 (3): 223–234.
- Chappell M.J. and LaValle L.A. 2009 Food security and biodiversity: can we have both? An agroecological analysis. *Agri. Hum. Values.*, (2011) 28: 3-26.
- Chitindingu, K, Ndhlala, A.R, Chapano, C, Benhura, M.A and Muchuweti, M. 2006. Phenolic compound content, profiles and antioxidant activities of *amaranthus*

*hybridus* (pigweed), *brachiaria brizantha* (upright brachiaria) and *panicum maximum* (guinea grass). *J. Food Biochem.*, 31, (2007): 206–216.

- Czerwiński, J, Bartnikowska, E, Leontowicz, H, Langeb, E, Leontowicza, M, Katrichc, E, Trakhtenbergd, S and Gorinstein, S. 2004. Oat (*Avena sativa* L.) and amaranth (*Amaranthus hypochondriacus*) meals positively affect plasma lipid profile in rats fed cholesterol-containing diets. J. Nutr. Biochem., 15 (10): 622–629.
- Dai, J and Mumper, R.S. 2010. Plant phenolics: Extraction, analysis and their antioxidant and anticancer properties. *Mol.*, 15: 7313-7352.
- Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF). 2010. Amaranthus: Production guideline. Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, Pretoria, South Africa.
- Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF). 2013. Production guide for cabbage. Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, Pretoria, South Africa.
- Development Bank of Southern Africa (DBSA). Business and Financial report overview: Annual reports. Hot Dot Print, Johannesburg, South Africa. 33-34
- de Munter J.S, Hu F.B, Spiegelman D, Franz, M, and van Dam R.M. 2007. Whole grain, bran, and germ intake and risk of type 2 diabetes: a prospective cohort study and systematic review. *PLoS Med.*, 4: 261-272.
- de Sherbinin, A, VanWey, L, McSweeney, K, Aggarwal, R, Barbieri, A, Henry, S, Hunter, L.M and Twine, W. 2008. Rural household demographics, livelihoods and the environment. *Glob. Environ. Change*, 18(1): 38–53.
- Eghadami, A. and Sadeghi, F. 2010. Determination of total phenolic and flavonoids contents in methalonic and aqueous extract of achillea millefolium. *J. Org. chem.*, 2: 81-84.
- European Commission (Europa). 2009. Food security: understanding and meeting the challenge of poverty. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- Faber, M, Laurie, S and Venter, S. 2006. Home-gardens to address vitamin A deficiency in South Africa: A food-based approach. ARC – Roodeplaat vegetables and ornamentals plant institute, Pretoria, South Africa.

- Fang, Y, Yang, S and Wu, G. 2002. Free radicals, antioxidants, and nutrition. *Nutri.*, 18(10): 872–879.
- Farias, K.S, Santos, T.S.N, Paiva, M.R.A.B, Almeida, S.M.L, Guedes P.T. Vianna, A.C.A, Favaro, S.P, Bueno, N.R and Castilho, R.O. 2013. Antioxidant properties of species from the Brazilian *cerrado* by different assays. *Rev. bras. plantas med.*, 15(4): 520-528.
- Ferreira, I.C.F.R, Baptista, P, Vilas-Boas, M, and Barros, L. 2005. Free-radical scavenging capacity and reducing power of wild edible mushrooms from northeast Portugal: Individual cap and stipe activity. *Food chem.*, 100, (2007): 1511–1516.
- Filaire, E and Toumi, H. 2012. Reactive oxygen species and exercise on bone metabolism: Friend or enemy? *Joint Bone Spine*, 79: 341–346.
- Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO). 1996. World food summit: Rome Italy. http://www.fao.org/docrep/003/w3613e/w3613e00.HTM. (Accessed 28/10/2013).
- Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO). 1997. Carbohydrates in human nutrition: FAO Food and Nutrition Paper No. 66.
- Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO). 2012. The state of food insecurity in the world: Economic growth is necessary but not sufficient to accelerate reduction of hunger and malnutrition. FAO, Viale delle Terme di Caracalla, Rome, Italy.
- Fotso, J and Barthelemy, K. 2006. Household and community socioeconomic influences on early childhood malnutrition in Africa. *J. biosoc. Sci.*, 38: 289–313.
- Fossen, T, Cabrita, L, Andersen O.M. 1998. Colour and stability of pure anthocyanins influenced by pH including the alkaline region. *Food Chem.*, 63 (4): 435–440
- Fraser, P.D and Bramley, P.M. 2004. The biosynthesis and nutritional uses of carotenoids. *Prog. Lipid Res.* 43(3): 228-65.
- Fuchs, J. 1998. Potentials and limitations of the natural antioxidants RRR-alpha-tocopherol, l-ascorbic acid and b-carotene in cutaneous photoprotection. *Free Radical Biol. Med.*, 25(7): 848–873.
- Gallagher, E, Gormley, T. R and Arendt. E. K. 2004. Recent advances in the formulation of gluten-free cereal-based products. *Trends Food Sci. Tech.*, 15 (3-4): 143–152.
- Gruss, T. 2014. 10 Reasons to use Amaranth in your Gluten-Free recipes: Amaranth is a gluten-free nutritional powerhouse.

http://glutenfreecooking.about.com/od/nutritionmealplanning/a/amaranth.htm. (Accessed 05/05/2014).

- Haq N. 2004. Women reintroducing neglected crops. LEISA magazine. Internationa Centre for Underutilized Crops (ICUC). Lancaster Building, University of Southampton Southampton SO17 1BJ, UK
- Hart, T.G.B and Vorster, H.J. 2006. Indigenous knowledge on the South African landscape potentials for agricultural development: Urban, rural and economic development programme. Occasional paper No 1. HSRC Press, Cape Town, South Africa.
- He, J. and Giusti, M.M. 2010. Anthocyanins: natural colorants with health-promoting properties. *Annu. Rev. Food Sci. Technol.*, 1: 163-87.
- Heaney, M.L, Gardner, J.R, Karasavvas, N, Golde, D.W, Scheinberg, D.A, Smith, E.A and O'Connor, O.A. 2008. Vitamin C Antagonizes the Cytotoxic Effects of Antineoplastic Drugs. *Cancer Res.*, 68(19): 8031-8038.
- Jansen van Rensburg, W.S, van Averbeke, W, Slabbert, R, Faber, M, van Jaarsveld, P, van Heerden, I, Wenhold, F and Oelofse, A. 2007. African leafy vegetables in South Africa. Water SA (3): 317-326.
- Jithesh, M. N, Prashanth, S. R, Sivaprakash, K .R And Parida A. K. 2006. Antioxidative response mechanisms in halophytes: their role in stress defence. J. Genet., 85(3): 237-254.
- Johnson, E.J. 2002. The role of carotenoids in human health. Nutri. Clin. Care, 2: 56-65.
- Kala, A, and Prakash, J. 2004. Nutrient composition and sensory profile of differently cooked green leafy vegetables. *Inter. J. Food Prop.*, 7(3):1-12.
- Karthikeyan, M, Jayakumar, V, Radhika, K, Bhaskaran, R, Velazhahan, R and Alice D. 2005.
  Induction of resistance in host against the infection of leaf blight pathogen (*Alternaria palandui*) in onion (*Allium cepa var aggregatum*). *Indian J. Biochem. Biophys.*, 42(6): 371-377.
- Krinsky, N.I. 2001. Carotenoids as antioxidants. Nutri., 17(10): 815-817.
- Krinsky, N.I and, Johnson, E.J. 2005. Carotenoid actions and their relation to health and disease. *Mol. Aspects Med.*, 26(6):459-516.
- Maundu, P.M. 2013. The status of traditional vegetable utilization in Kenya National Museums of Kenya, Nairobi, Kenya.
- Martirosyan, D.M, Miroshnichenko, L.A, Kulakova, S.N, Pogojeva, A.V and Zoloedov V.I. 2007. Amaranth oil application for coronary heart disease and hypertension. *Lipids Health Dis.*, 6:1-12.

- Mibei, E.K, Ojijo K.O.N, Karanja S.M and Kinyua, J.K. 2011. Compositional attributes of the leaves of some Indigenous African Leafy Vegetables commonly consumed in Kenya. Annals. Food Sci. and Tech., 12(2): 1-11.
- Miccozi, M.S. Beecher, G.R, Taylor, P.R and Khachik, F. 1985. Carotenoid analyses of selected raw and cooked foods associated with a lower risk for Cancer. J. Natl. Cancer I. 82 (4), (1990): 282-285.
- Mortensen, A. 2006. Carotenoids and other pigments as natural colorants. *Pure Appl. Chem.*, 78(8): 1477–1491.
- Morsya, M.R, Jouveb, L, Hausmanb, J, Hoffmann, L and Stewarta, J. 2005. Alteration of oxidative and carbohydrate metabolism under abiotic stress in two rice (*Oryza sativa L.*) genotypes contrasting in chilling tolerance. *J. plant physiol.*, 4(5): 388–393.
- Nolte, K. 2013. Crop of the Week: Red cabbage. <u>http://www.yumasun.com/business/crop-of-the-week-cabbage/article\_bcc3d256-6e99-11e3-8137-0019bb30f31a.html</u>. (Accessed 18/10/2013).
- Norberg-Hodge, H. 2010. Beyond The Monoculture: Strengthening local culture, economy and knowledge. <u>http://www.countercurrents.org/hodge030410.htm</u>. (Accessed 28/03/2014).
- Nordqvist, C. 2013. What are carbohydrates? What is glucose? Medical News Today, *MediLe xic*on. <u>http://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/161547</u>. (Accessed 06/05/2014).
- Odhav, B, Beekrum, S, Akula, U.S and Baijnath H. 2005. Preliminary assessment of nutritional value of traditional leafy vegetables in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. J. Food Comp. Anal., 20, (2007): 430–435.
- Palafox-Carlos, H, Ayala-Zavala, J. F and Gonz´alez-Aguilar, G.A. 2011. The role of dietary fiber in the bio accessibility and bioavailability of fruit and vegetable antioxidants. J. *Food Sci.*, 76(1): 1-10.
- Pastori, G.M, Kiddle, G, Antoniw, J, Bernard, S, Veljovic-Jovanovic, S, Verrier, P.J, Noctor, G and Christine H. Foyer, G.H. 2003. Leaf Vitamin C contents modulate plant defense transcripts and regulate genes that control development through hormone signaling. *The Plant Cell*, 15: 939–951.
- Penter, M.G. 1996. The effect of elevated glutathione reductase and superoxide dismutase activities in stressed transgenic tobacco. University of Natal, Durban, South Africa.
- Perrings, C. 2001. The economics of biodiversity loss and agricultural development in low income countries. Environment Department, University of York, Heslington, York YO I 5DD.

- Písaíková, B, Peterka, J, Trâková, M, Moudr, J, Zral, Z and Herzig, I. 2006. Chemical composition of the above-ground biomass of Amaranthus cruentus and A. hypochondriacus. *Acta Vet. Brno.* 75: 133–138.
- Podsedek, A. 2005. Natural antioxidants and antioxidant capacity of Brassica vegetables: A Review. *LWT* 40, (2007): 1–11.
- Rice-Evans, C.A, Miller, N.J and Paganga, G. 1997. Antioxidant properties of phenolic Compounds. *Trends Plant Sci.*, 2: 152-159.
- Rusha, G.F, Gorskia, J.R, Ripplea, M.G, Sowinskia, J, Bugelskia, P and Hewitta, W.R. 1985. Organic hydroperoxide-induced lipid peroxidation and cell death in isolated hepatocytes. *Toxicol and Applied Pharmacol.*, 78(3): 473–483.
- Rosa, M, Prado, C, Podazza, G, Interdonato, R, González, J.A, Hilal, M and Prado F.E. 2009.
  Soluble sugars—Metabolism, sensing and abiotic stress. *Plant Signal Behav.* 4(5): 388–393.
- Rouzaud, G, Young, S.A, Duncan, A.J. 2004. Hydrolysis of glucosinolates to isothiocyanates after ingestion of raw or microwaved cabbage by human volunteers. *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomark. Prevent.*, 13: 125-131.
- Schippers, R.R. 2000. African indigenous vegetables: an overview of the cultivated species. Natural Resources Institute/ACP-EU Technical Centre for Agricultural and Rural Cooperation, Chatham, UK.
- Schönfeldt, H.C and Pretorius, B. 2011. The nutrient content of five traditional south african dark green leafy vegetables - a preliminary study. J. Food Comp. and Anal., 24 (8): 1141–1146.
- Singh J, Upadhyay, A.K, Bahadur, A, Singh, B, Singh, K.P and Rai M. 2004. Antioxidant phytochemicals in cabbage (*Brassica oleracea L. var. capitata*). Scientia Horticulturae, 108, (2006): 233–237.
- Singh, B.K, Sharma, S.R and Singh, B. 2009. Heterosis for mineral elements in single crosshybrids of cabbage (*Brassica oleracea var. capitata L.*). Scientia Horticulturae 122: 32–36.
- Silva, S, Gomes, L, Leitão, F, Coelho, A.V and Vilas Boas, L. 2006. Phenolic Compounds and Antioxidant Activity of *Olea europaea* L. Fruits and Leaves *Food Sci. Tech. Int.*, 12(5): 385–396.

- Song, L and Thornalley, P.J. 2006. Effect of storage, processing and cooking on glucosinolate content of Brassica vegetables. *Food and Chem. Toxi.*, 45, (2007): 216– 224.
- Steinmetz, K.A and Potter, J. D. 1996. Vegetables, fruits and cancer prevention: a review. *J. American Diet Assoc.*, 96: 1027–1039.
- Tesfay, S.Z. 2009. Special carbohydrates of avocado their function as 'sources of energy' and 'anti-oxidants'. U published thesis, University of KwaZulu-Natal.
- Tharanathan, R.N. 2002. Food-derived carbohydrates Structural complexity and functional diversity. *Crit. Rev. Biotechnol.*, 22(1):65-84.
- Torres del campo, C.A. 2005. Physiological and biochemical responses of fruit exocarp of tomato (*lycopersicon esculentum mill*) mutants to natural photo-oxidative conditions. Washington state university, Pullman, WA, United States.
- Uusiku, N.P, Oelofse, A, Duodu, K.G, Bester, M.J and Faber, M. 2010. Nutritional value of leafy vegetables of sub-Saharan Africa and their potential contribution to human health: A review. *J Food Comp. and Anal.*, 23: 499–509.
- United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). 2013. Emerging issues in our global environment. Publishing services division, UNON, Nairobi, Kenya.
- United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund (UNICEF). 1997. The state of the world's children. Oxford University Press, New York.
- United States Department of Agriculture (USDA). 2011. National agriculture library: cooked amaranth, wheat germ, oats. (<u>http://usdasearch.usda.gov/search</u>) (Accessed 04/05/2014).
- Van der Merwe, C. 2011. Key Challenges for Ensuring Food Security in South Africa's Inner Cities. Policy briefing No36. African Institute of South Adfrica, Pretoria, South Africa.
- Van Wyk, B.E and Gericke, N. 2000. People's Plants. Briza Publications, Pretoria, South Africa.
- Valko, M, Leibfritz, D, Moncol, J, Cronin, M.T, Mazur, M and Telser, J. 2007. Free radicals and antioxidants in normal physiological functions and human disease. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.*, 39(1): 44-84.
- Volden, J, Borge, G.I.A, Bengtsson, G.B, Hansen, M, Thygesen, I.E, Wicklund, T. 2008. Effect of thermal treatment on glucosinolates and antioxidant-related parameters in red cabbage (*Brassica oleracea* L. *ssp. capitata f. rubra*). *Food Chem.*, 109: 595–605.
- Vorster, H.J, Jansen Van Rensburg, W.S, Van Zijl, J.J.B and Van Den Heever, E. 2002. Germplasm management of African Leafy Vegetables for the nutritional and food

security needs of vulnerable groups in South Africa. Progress Report. ARC-VOPI, Pretoria, South Africa.

- Weller, P.I.S.C, Marshall, M.I, Pitchay, D, Ngouajio, M, Obura, P, Cheserek, G, Omami, E, Ochuodho, J, Ndinya, C, Nyabinda, N, Ojiewo, C. 2014.Indigenous African Leafy Vegetables (ALV) for enhancing livelihood security of smallholder farmers in Kenya. http://hortcrsp.ucdavis.edu/Documents/WellerPoster.pdf. (Accessed 09/06/2014)
- Wheeler, M.L and Pi-Sunyer, F.X. 2008. Carbohydrate Issues: Type and Amount: Review. J Am Diet Assoc., 108: 34-39.
- White, L.M. 1973. Carbohydrates reserves as grasses: A review. J. range man., 26(1): 13-28.
- Wiczkowski, W, Szawara-Nowak, D, Topolska, J. 2013. Red cabbage anthocyanins: Profile, isolation, identification, and antioxidant activity. *Food Research Inter.*, 51 (1): 303-309.
- World Food Programme (WFP). 2013. Annual performance report for 2012. <u>http://documents.wfp.org/stellent/groups/public/documents/eb/wfpdoc062506.pdf</u>. (Accessed 02/05/2014).
- Ye, Y, Li, J and Yuan, Z. 2013. Effect of antioxidant vitamin supplementation on cardiovascular outcomes: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. PLoS ONE 8(2): e56803 (Accessed 16/09/20114).
- Zere, E and McIntyre, D. 2003 Inequities in under-five child malnutrition in South Africa. *Inter. J. Equity in Health*, 2(7): 1-10.

# **CHAPTER 2**

# Amaranth (Amaranthus hybridus ) seed characterization and Seed quality

#### 2.1 Abstract

The aim was to investigate the effect of Amaranth (*Amaranhus hybridus*) seed colour on quality status of the seeds, including standard germination percentage, seed weight, germination velocity index (GVI), mean germination time (MGT) and electrolyte leakages (EC) and antioxidant content. The dark red seeds showed higher germination percentage (79.3%), lower seed weight (0.104 g after 6 d), higher MGT (5.87 days), higher GVI (91.89), higher EC (13949.15  $\mu$ S.cm<sup>-1</sup>.g<sup>-1</sup> in 24 h), higher total antioxidant content (2.75 mmol Fe(3)SO(4)100g<sup>-1</sup>) and radical scavenging percentage (73.20%). while white gold coloured seeds recorded lower germination percentage (50.67%), higher seed weight (0.313 g after 6 d), Lower MGT (4.82 days), lower GVI (53.83), lower EC (9170.83  $\mu$ S.cm<sup>-1</sup>.g<sup>-1</sup> in 24 h), lower total antioxidant content (0.962 mmol Fe(3)SO(4)100g<sup>-1</sup>) and radical scavenging percentage (46.30%). Overall, based on the results red colour seeds are of higher quality than white gold coloured seeds.

## **2.2 Introduction**

The need to increase and improve food production and accurate supply remain an immense issue around the world; this is usually referred to as "food security" (Basra, 2011). Increasing food production through use of high quality seed among other inputs is crucial for providing adequate food for rising population throughout the world (Basra, 2006). Use of quality seeds is very important in crop production as seeds are a primary agricultural input which all other agricultural inputs are dependent on for success (Basra, 2011). The higher the seed quality the better food quality and quantity, thus minimized/eradicated food insecurity (Basra, 2011). Seed quality main characteristics are genetical quality, healthy (free from seed borne diseases), purity, seed weed content, moisture, grain volume and weight volume (Kjaer, 1961). According to Ellias (2006), seed quality is a collective term for genetic

homogeneity, physical appearance, viability, vigour and uniform seed conditions. To a farmer seed quality translates to high and uniform yield capacity under a wide range of environmental field conditions. Good quality seeds result in low sowing rate, high crop emergence, reduced replanting, vigourous early growth which gives a competitive advantage towards harsh early growing conditions like weeds, insects and drought (FAO, 2003; Department of Agriculture, Government of Puducherry, 2012).

In general seed quality characteristics are mainly vigour and viability. Seed viability is the ability of the embryo to germinate. Viability test is used to determine which seed tissues are alive and have a potential to germinate under optimum conditions (Angelovici et al., 2010; Maile, 2013). The test uses a chemical called tetrazolium (TZ), a colourless chemical that reacts with cells and paint them red, it only detects tissues that are alive or viable (Maile, 2013). Seed vigour is the ability of a seed to perform under different environmental conditions mostly focusing on unfavorable conditions (Ferguson and Keys, 1914; Tekrony and Egli 1991; Maile, 2013), and it is classified as the closest test/measure of seed potential field performance opposed to laboratory seed germination, where percentage germination is performed under seed optimal condition (Ferguson and Keys, 1914; Maile, 2013). Vigour test is species specific a wide range of seed tests are available, but most species use the rapid tetrozolium seed viability and vigour test (Maile, 2013). However, traditional leafy vegetables are mostly landraces with no hybrids while amaranth (Amaranthus hybridus) is believed to be a natural hybrid with no pure line breed. Most traditional leafy vegetables are also believed to have dormant seeds. Etèka et al., (2010) found seeds of African traditional leafy vegetables, S. radiatum and C. sesamoides to have as low as 15% germination rate. Rathi et al., (2011) used Quantitative Trail Loci (QTL) to measure dormancy in indigenous rice of Assam, India. Traditional African leafy vegetables have dearth of information on the seed quality which is one of the key information required in plant production. Amaranthus is one of the most widely growing traditional leafy vegetable at household level throughout Africa and South Africa inclusive (Jansen van Rensburg et al., 2004; Modi, 2007). Modi (2007) reported on Amaranthus spp. seed germination under different temperatures, where temperature and seed age influenced germination significantly depending on the sub-specie.

Phenotypic make-up of the seed which is affected by genetic make-up also influences seed quality, for example seed coat colour has been found to influence Bambara seed

germination by Sinefu (2011) where brown seeds coat colour exhibited better germination capacity than white coloured seed. Odindo (2007) found that varying only seed coat colour in cowpea had significant effect on seed quality, germination inclusive. Phenotypic traits like seed size, seed coat thickness and mass have a significant effect on seed quality.

However, report on seed quality of traditional leafy vegetables is scarce. The study was then conducted to add to scientific and general knowledge of seed quality of *Amaranthus spp*. This would also add seed quality information of *Amaranthus hybridus* available for farming, breeding and other scientific and/or general needs.

### 2.3 Materials and Methods

### 2.3.1 Seed material

The *Amaranthus hybridus* seeds were collected from Ukulinga, University of Kwa-Zulu Natal (UKZN) research farm located 30° 24' S, 29° 24' E and were also donated by the University of Free State, South Africa.

#### 2.3.2 Chemicals

Chemicals used for antioxidant analysis were purchased either from Sigma-Aldrich®, Saarchem® or Fluka®.

#### 2.3.3 Germination

Red and white gold coloured *Amaranthus hybridus* seeds were used for germination capability test. A seed testing water bath (Copenhagen Seed-Testing Bath, coupled with Grant FH60 circulation system) was used to germinate *Amaratnus hybridus* seeds where 100 seeds weighing 0.027 g were placed on a whatman paper no. 1 on the germination table (CT/FH60). Temperature fluctuations on the table were in the range of 17.3 to 26.5°C. A destructive sampling of germinating seeds was used to measure germinated seeds, daily
(24hrs) count and weighing, to check the germination percentage (number) and imbibition process. There were three replicates (100 seeds per germination paper) per time treatment.



FIGURE 2.6: Seed of A. hybridus different coloured seeds A- White Gold and B- Red

Germination velocity index (GVI) was also measured and it indicates the speed of germination and was calculated using the formulae by Maguire (1962).

GVI = G1/N1 + G2/N2 + ... + Gn / Nn Equation 2. 1

Where:

GVI = germination velocity index

G1, G2...Gn = number of germinated seeds in first, second... last count.

N1, N2...Nn = number of sowing days at the first, second... last count.

For further analysis Mean Time to Germination (MGT) was also calculated according using the formulae by Ellis and Roberts (1981):

# $MGT = \sum Dn / \sum n$

# Equation 2.2

Where:

MGT = mean germination time,

n = the number of seed which were germinated on day D, and

D = number of days counted from the beginning of germination.

# 2.3.4. Electrolyte leakage (EC)

Bulk EC was measured using CM 100-2 conductivity meter (Reid Associates CC, South Africa), 10 dark red seeds weighing 2.8 mg and cream white seeds weighing 6.3 mg were placed in CM 100 tray wells and 1 ml of distilled water was added. After 24 hours readings were taken and analysed (EC reading).



FIGURE 2.2: Seed analysis EC meter (CM 100-2)

#### 2.3.5 Antioxidants assays

Anti-oxidant levels were first determined as "total anti-oxidant capacity" (TAOC) using the FRAP (ferric reducing ability of plasma) assay (Benzie and Strain, 1996) and expressed as  $\mu$ mol FeSO<sub>4</sub>7H<sub>2</sub>O g<sup>-1</sup> DW equivalents. Second, total anti-oxidant activity (TAOA) was also determined using the DPPH assay according to Leong and Shui (2002), in order to gauge the presence of hydrophilic as well as lipophilic anti-oxidants. Briefly, an aliquot (40µl) of an extract was added to 3 ml of methanolic DPPH solution. The change in absorbance at 515 nm was measured at 30 min. The antioxidant capacity based on the DPPH free radical scavenging ability of the extract was expressed as µmol Trolox equivalents per gram of plant material on dry basis.

# 2.3.6 Statistical analysis

Statistical Analysis was performed using GenStat (version 17.0; VSN International, Hemel Hempstead, UK). Standard deviation values were calculated and differences among treatments were separated by the least significant difference (LSD) at P=0.05.

# 2.4 Result and Discussion

#### 2.4.1 Standard Germination

Seeds usually germinate due to being exposed to moisture and a warm environment. Therefore, amaranth seeds begin germination like any other seed, by swelling due to water uptake during imbibition, followed by radicle emergence from moistened and raptured seed coat, which is related to seed germination.

There were significant differences (P<0.001) in seed germination of the two seed colours, with the red coloured seed coat having higher germination percentage than white gold coloured seeds throughout the germination period. The germination percentage of red and white gold colour seeds of *Amaranthus hybridus* showed increasing trend overtime. Red

colour seeds had a final average germination percentage of 79.3%, while white gold coloured seeds had a final germination percentage of 52.3%. Both *Amaranthus hybridus* seeds types (colour) showed expansion after 24 hours, which is a sign of imbibition and radicle emergence potential, then on the second day that is when seed germination (radicle emergence) was noticed which was at an average of 40.0% on red seeds and 13.3 % for the white gold seeds. Germination increased rapidly during the early hours of seed imbibition period for both seed types. Red coloured seeds showed higher germination percentage throughout the germination period, they both started germination after 48 hours. Results are in agreement with Odindo (2007) and Mavi (2010) who both reported that dark coloured seeds of cow pea and watermelon crimson sweet, have higher germination percentage than light coloured seeds to imbibe water to germinate (produce radicles). The germination results obtained in this study show that *Amaranthus hybridus* has high vigour under normal laboratory conditions as radicle emergence can be associated with seed vigour and viability.

Amaranth of dark red coloured seeds had a final germination velocity index (GVI) of 91.89 and mean germination time (MGT) of 5.87 whereas the white coloured seeds had GVI of 53.83 and MGT of 4.82. These results show that red coloured seeds have higher GVI than white coloured seeds, high GVI suggests that quicker root:shoot ration, this can be associated with a study by Sinefu (2011). The low MGT shows that *Amaranthus hybridus* white coloured seeds can take fewer days to reach their full germination potential than red coloured seeds. It was also observed that there was a strong correlation (r=0.72) among GVI, MGT and germination percentage.



FIGURE 2.7: Daily germination percentage of Amaranthus (*Amaranthus hybridus spp.*) over 168 hours. Vertical bars represent ± SE. (n=5).

#### 2.4.2 Seed weight

Seed weight increased over time as the seed imbibed water through its semipermeable membrane. The increased seed weight linearly correlated with the germination percentage as this showed radicle emergence. There were significant differences (P<0.001) in seed weight between the two coloured seeds, result in different stages of radicle emergence. The weight gain of the seeds is due to radicle emergence and water imbibition. The higher seed weight of white gold coloured seeds might be due to higher seed moisture content, but this seems not to affect germination as both colour seeds started germination on the same day. The study further included electrolyte leakage which also showed differences in seed vigour.



FIGURE 2.8: Daily seed weight of red and white gold Amaranthus (*Amaranthus hybridus spp.*) over 168 hours. Vertical bars represent ± SE. (n=5).

#### 2.4.3Electrolyte leakage

Electrolyte leakage (EC reading) measures the amount of solutes released by the seeds. High EC shows low seed vigour and low EC shows high vigour (Ramos *et al.*, 2012). According to EC readings red coloured seeds had low vigour and white had high vigour. Electrolyte leakages increase with membrane deterioration, mitochondrial changes, chromosomal aberrations and free radicals in seed lots. As seed deterioration increases, cellular membranes lose their selective permeability, permitting the cytoplasmic metabolites to leach into the intercellular spaces. Membrane degradation occurs from both hydrolysis of phospholipids by phospholipase and phospholipids oxidation (Mavi, 2010).

There were significant differences (P<0.001) in electrolyte leakage of the two coloured seeds, red coloured seeds had a significantly higher EC than light coloured seeds throughout the study period. This result is supported by Odindo's (2007) findings on cowpea seeds; dark coloured seeds had highest solute leakage compared to light coloured seeds and

on contrary findings were reported by Mavi (2010) on watermelon crimson sweet, when brown seeds showed lower EC readings than light yellow seeds.



FIGURE 2.9: Electrolyte leakage (EC) of Amaranthus (*Amaranthus hybridus spp.*) over 24 hours. Vertical bars represent ± SE. (n=5).

Electrolyte leakages increase when seeds are subjected to deterioration and seed maturation (Ramos *et al.*, 2012). However, maturation can also be associated with increased seed solute contents (Odindo, 2007; Salinas *et al.*, 2010). Therefore, higher electrolyte leakage from red coloured seeds may be due to higher seed solute contents than white gold coloured seeds.

# 2.4.4 Total antioxidants

There were significant differences (P<0.001) in the total antioxidant content of the two different coloured seeds. Red coloured seeds showed higher total antioxidant content;

this could be due to higher anthocyanin content on the red coloured seeds. This supports EC readings on these seeds, where red coloured seeds showed higher electrolyte leakages which were assumed to be from higher total soluble solutes contents on red coloured seeds.



FIGURE 2.6: Total Antioxidants content of different coloured Amaranthus (*Amaranthus hybridus spp.*) seeds. Vertical bars represent ± SE. (n=5).

There were also significant differences (P<0.001) in radical scavenging percentages of the differently coloured seeds. Red coloured seeds showed higher radical scavenging percentage which is in line with the expectation as red coloured seeds had higher total antioxidant content. These findings are in agreement with the findings of Thaipong et al., (2006) on different guava fruits genotypes, in which high antioxidant content resulted in high antioxidant activity/ radical scavenging ability.



FIGURE 2.7: Radical scavenging activity of different coloured Amaranthus (*Amaranthus hybridus spp.*) seed. Vertical bars represent ± SE. (n=5).

# **2.5 Conclusion**

Electrolyte leakage and antioxidant content show that red seeds are of higher quality in terms of total solute contents which are required during seed germination; this could also be used for better seed germination, emergence and plant stand of high quality and nutrition.

This investigation demonstrated that red coloured seeds have higher seed quality than white gold coloured seeds. Higher seed viability and low vigour was showed by red coloured seeds while white coloured seeds have high vigour and low viability. Red coloured seeds were preferred for post studies as they showed better quality traits.

#### References

- Angelovici, R, Galili, G, Fernie, A. R and Fait, A. 2010. Seed desiccation: a bridge between maturation and germination. *Trends Plant Sci.*, 15(4): 211-218.
- Basra, A.S. 2006. Seed quality basic mechanisms and agricultural implications. New York, London, Australia. Food Products Press.
- Basra, A.S. 2011. Handbook of seed science and technology. Haworth Press Inc., N.Y.
- Benzie, I. F. F and Strain, J. J. 1996. The ferric reducing ability of plasma (FRAP) as a measure of "antioxidant power": the FRAP assay. *Anal. Biochem.*, 23(9): 70-76.
- Department of Agriculture Government of Puducherry. 2012. Seed management http://agri.puducherry.gov.in/seeds.html. (Accessed 18-12-2013).
- Elias, S. G. 2006. Seed Quality Testing. Handbook of seed science and technology. Haworth Press Inc., N.Y: 561-601.
- Ellis, R.H and Roberts, E.H. 1981. The quantification of ageing and survival in orthodox seeds. *Seed Sci. Technol.*, 9: 373-409.
- Etèka, C.A, Ahohuendo, B.C, Ahoton, L.E, Dabadé, S.D and Ahanchédé, A. 2010. Seeds' germination of four traditional leafy vegetables in Benin (LFT). *Tropicultura*, 28(3): 148-152.
- Ferguson, J.M. and Keys, R.D. 1914. Seed and seed quality: A Guide for Seed Producers, Farmers, and Home Gardeners. North Carolina Cooperative Extension Service, circular 514. Publication Number AG-448.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of United Nations (FAO). 2003. Explore on farm: Optimizing plant population, crop emergence and establishment. Agriculture and consumer protection, Rome.
- Hampton, J.G. 1981. The extent and significance of seed size variation in New Zealand wheats (Triticum aestivum L.). *N.Z.L. Exp. Agric.*, 9: 179-184.
- ISTA (International Seed Testing Association). 2011. International rules for seed testing. Switzerland: ISTA Zurich.

- Jansen van Rensburg, W.S, Venter, S.L, Netshiluvhi, T.R, Van den Heever, E, Voster, H.J and Ronde, J.A. 2004. Role of indigenous leafy vegetables in combating hunger and malnutrition. *S. Afri. J. Bot.*, 70:52-59.
- Kjaer, A. 1961. Agricultural and horticultural seeds. Food and Agricultural Organization of the United States. FAO Agricultural studies.
- Leong, L. P and Shui, G. 2002. An investigation of antioxidant capacity of fruits in Singapore markets. *Food Chem.*, 76: 69-75.
- Maguire, J. D. 1962. Speed of germination, an aid in selection and evaluation for seedling emergence and vigor. *Crop Sci.*, 2:176-177.
- Maile, L. 2013. Seed quality. National Institute of Agricultural Botany (NIAB). http://www.niab.com/pages/id/24/Seed\_Quality (accessed 16-10-2013).
- Mavi, K. 2010. The relationship between seed coat color and seed quality in watermelon Crimson sweet. *Hort. Sci. (Prague)*, 37(2): 62-69.
- McDonald, M.B. and Copeland, O.L. 1997. Seed production: Principles and practices. New York: Chapman and Hall.
- Modi, A.T. 2007. Growth temperatures and plant age influence on nutritional quality of Amaranthus leaves and seed germination capacity. Water SA 33: 367-371.
- Odindo, A.O. 2007. Cowpea seed quality in response to production site and water stress. PhD thesis, University of KwaZulu-Natal.
- Pritchard, H. W, Daws, M, Fletcher, B.J, Gamene, C.S, Msanga, H. P and W. Omondi. 2004. Ecological correlates of seed desiccation tolerance in tropical African dryland trees. *Amer. J. Bot.*, 91(6): 863-870.
- Ramos, K.M.O, Matos, J.M.M, Martins, R.C.C and Martins, I.S. 2012. Electrical Conductivity Testing as Applied to the Assessment of Freshly Collected *Kielmeyera coriacea* Mart. Seeds. ISRN *Agronomy*, 1-4.
- Rathi, S, Baruah A.R, Chowdhury, R.K and Sarma, R.N. 2011. QTL Analysis of seed dormancy in indigenous rice of Assam, India. *Cereal Res. Commun.*, 39(1): 137–146.

- Sadeghian, S.Y and Khodaii, H. 1998. Diallel cross analysis of seed germination traits in sugar beet. *Euphytica*, 103: 259-263.
- Salinas, A.S, Craviotto, R.M, Beltrán, C, Bisaro, V and Yoldjian, M.A. 2010. Electrical conductivity of soybean seed cultivars and adjusted models of leakage curves along the time. *Revista Caatinga*, 23(1): 1-7.
- Sinefu, F. 2011. Bambara ground nut response to controlled environment and planting date associated water stress. Master's thesis, University of KwaZulu-Natal.
- Tekrony, D.M. and Egli, D.B. 1990. Relationship of Seed Vigor to Crop Yield: A Review. Crop sci., 31(3): 816-822.
- Thaiponga, K, Boonprakoba, U, Crosbyb, K, Cisneros-Zevallosc, L and Hawkins, D. 2006. Comparison of ABTS, DPPH, FRAP, and ORAC assays for estimating antioxidant activity from guava fruit extracts. J. Food Comp. and Anal., 19 (6-7): 669-675.

# CHAPTER 3

# Comparative chemical composition of Amaranthus (Amaranthus hybridus) and Green and Red Cabbage (Brassica olaracea and Brassica oleracea var. capitata f. rubra)

#### **3.1 Abstract**

Fruits and vegetables are considered a health promoting food source due to their phytonutrient constitutes. However, commercialized fruits and vegetables are mostly inaccessible to "poor" rural communities therefore there is a need for alternative indigenous food sources especially for alleviating nutrient deficiency problems. *Amaranthus Hybridus* leafy vegetable was tested for selected phytonutrient content during different growth stages and compared with *Brassica oleracea* and *Brassica oleracea var. capitata f. rubra*. Antioxidants (DPPH and FRAP assays), phenols, flavonoids, carotenoids and chlorophyll, protein, vitamin C and total soluble sugars were measured. Results obtained showed that *A.hybridus* contained comparable high phytonutrient contents. In conclusion, amaranth can be beneficial in mitigating reactive oxygen species (ROSs) and supplement the nutrient deficiency problems, while also aiding in mitigating neurotic chronic diseases faced by people of old age and those who have poor nutrition standards. A variety of nutrient sources/vegetables is preferred to singular as different sources/vegetables contain different types and levels of phytonutrients, thus balancing the daily nutrients requirement.

# **3.2 Introduction**

Vegetables are important protective foods and highly beneficial in disease prevention and health maintenance. Therefore, their importance has gained increasing consumers' attention due to the biochemical constitute of fruits and vegetables in association with human health and prevention or mitigating neurotic diseases. Several studies have indicated that a high intake of certain fruits and vegetables can be associated with a reduced risk of degenerative chronic diseases, such as cancer, atherosclerosis, stroke, rheumatoid arthritis, neurodegeneration, and diabetes (Fang *et al.*, 2002; Nautiyal *et al.*, 2008; Nnamani *et al.*, 2009). However, antioxidants from fruits and vegetables are proven to work effectively when in conjunction with other nutrients to reduce reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Trombino *et al.*, 2004), due to effective synergistic interaction than individual action (Nautiyal *et al.*, 2008).

Vitamin C and E are among the potent antioxidants which contribute significantly to protective effects of fruits and vegetables (Nautiyal *et al.*, 2008). Other than these constitutes, many other phytochemicals are available for health benefits such as phenols, carotenoids, proteins and carbohydrates. However, these phytochemicals possess different antioxidant activity, but are collectively beneficial, for example glucosinolates possess low antioxidant activity than antioxidant vitamins, carotenoids and polyphenols but their hydrolysis product can protect against cancer incidences (Plumb *et al.*, 1996; Nautiyal *et al.*, 2006). Different vegetables have different levels of phytochemical constitutes.

The phytochemical antioxidant system in plants is very complex, with different interactions and factors affecting their content (Palafox-Carlos, 2011). Variation in biochemical/ phytochemical contents can be due to a variety of factors: variety, growing condition, harvest maturity and postharvest handling (Finau, 2011).

Therefore this experiment was designed to assess comparative levels of plant phytochemicals that can be produced during different plant developmental stages. Accordingly different analytical assays were performed to determine plant phytochemical contents.

#### 3.3 Materials and methods

#### 3.3.1 Plant material

*Amaranthus hybridus* seeds were harvested from the University of Kwa-Zulu Natal farm, while some were donated by University of Free State, South Africa.

Red coloured *A.Hybridus* seeds were planted in seedling trays along with purchased *Brassica oleracea* and *Brassica oleracea var. capitata f. rubra* seeds (HYGROTECH®). Seedlings were transplanted after four weeks; the experimental design was: total of 80 seedlings per vegetable, 4 replications, 20 seedlings per replication; 80 pots containing a premixed growth medium were used. Samples were collected fortnightly for seven successive times, and then the samples ground into powder for further analysis.

#### 3.3.2 Nutrient analysis

Leaf nutrients were analyzed by an independent laboratory at Cedara College of Agriculture in Hilton, just outside Pietermaritzburg town.

#### 3.3.3 Antioxidants determination

Antioxidants were determined using two assays FRAP and DPPH.

Anti-oxidant levels were first determined as "total anti-oxidant capacity" (TAOC) using the FRAP (ferric reducing ability of plasma) assay (Benzie and Strain, 1996) and expressed as  $\mu$ mol FeSO<sub>4</sub>7H<sub>2</sub>O g<sup>-1</sup> DW equivalents. Second, total anti-oxidant activity (TAOA) was also determined using the DPPH assay according to Leong and Shui (2002), in order to gauge the presence of hydrophilic as well as lipophilic anti-oxidants. Briefly, an aliquot (40µl) of an extract was added to 3 ml of methanolic DPPH solution. The change in absorbance at 515 nm was measured at 30 min. The antioxidant capacity based on the DPPH free radical scavenging ability of the extract was expressed as µmol Trolox equivalents per gram of plant material on dry basis.

# 3.3.7 Phenols

The total phenolic content of the extracts was determined according to Eghadami and Sadeghi, (2010) using the Folin- Ciocalteu reagent. The reaction mixture contained: 200  $\mu$ l of sample extract, 800  $\mu$ l of Folin-Ciocalteu's phenol reagent and 2 ml of 7.5% sodium carbonate. The final mixture was diluted to 7 ml with deionized water. The reaction mixtures were kept in dark at ambient conditions for 2 h to complete the reaction. Absorbance at 765 nm was measured. Gallic acid was used as a standard for drawing a calibration curve and the results were expressed as mg gallic acid equivalent (GAE)/g sample dry weight.

#### 3.3.8 Flavonoids

Total flavonoid content was determined according to eghadami and Sadeghi, (2010) using aluminium chloride (AlCl<sub>3</sub>), using quercetin as a standard. The plant extract (0.1 ml)

was added to 0.3 ml distilled water followed by 5% NaNO<sub>2</sub> (0.03 ml). After 5 min at 25°C, AlCl<sub>3</sub> (0.03 ml, 10%) was added. After a further 5 min, the reaction mixture was treated with 0.2 ml of 1 mM NaOH. Finally, the reaction mixture was diluted to 1 ml with distilled water and absorbance was measured at 510 nm. The results were expressed as mg gallic acid equivalent (GAE)/g sample dry weight.

#### 3.3.9 Carotenoids and chlorophyll concentration

Carotenoids and chlorophyll, the major pigments in the plant kingdom, were extracted and determined according to Lichtenthaler (1987). Freeze-dried, ground material (0.10 g d.wt) was placed into centrifuge tubes, 10ml of extracting solvent (100% Methanol) added, given 10 minutes stand time on ice covered with aluminum foil, homogenized with Ultra-Turrax using 1 minute burst twice and centrifuged at 2500 g for 5 minutes. The supernatant was decanted into 2-4 ml cuvettes and absorbance was read at various wavelengths (663.2 nm, 646.68 nm and 470 nm) as this is a simultaneous extraction of carotenoids and chlorophyll. Necessary calculations and conversions were made accordingly (Table 3.1).

# Table 3.2: Formulas used to calculate chlorophyll a, chlorophyll b, total chlorophyll and total carotenoids.

	$C_a = (12.25 \text{ x } A_{663.2}) - (2.79 \text{ x } A_{646.8})$
80% Acetone	$c_b = (21.50 \text{ x } A_{646.8}) - (5.10 \text{ x } A_{663.2})$
	$C_{a+b} = (7.15 \text{ x } A_{663.2}) - (8.71 \text{ x } A_{646.8})$
	$C_{x+c} = (1000 \text{ x } A_{470}) - (1.82 \text{ x } C_a) - (85.02 \text{ x } C_b)/198$

 $C_a$  = Chlorophyll a,  $C_b$  = Chlorophyll b,  $C_{a+b}$  = Total Chlorophyll,  $C_{x+c}$  = Total carotenoids

The experiment was replicated three times and absorbance reading triplicated.

#### 3.3.11 Vitamin C

The ascorbic acid (Vitamin C) concentration was determined according to Böhm et al. (2006) with slight modifications. Briefly, 100-1000 of sample was mixed with 5 mL of 0.56 M metaphosphoric acid, vigorously shaken, centrifuged at 2988 g and the supernatant transferred into a volumetric flask. This procedure was repeated twice and the combined

extracts made up to 20 mL using 0.56 M meta-phosphoric acid. Subsequently, 200  $\mu$ L of the combined extract were mixed with 300  $\mu$ L of 0.3M trichloroacetic acid, centrifuged at 17212 g for 10 min. Subsamples of the supernatant (300  $\mu$ L aliquots) were mixed with 100  $\mu$ L of 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine reagent (0.013 M in 30 % perchloric acid), and heated to 60 °C for 1 h and subsequently cooled in an ice bath for 5 min. Thereafter, 400  $\mu$ L of 15.75 M sulphuric acid were added to the sample and the absorbance read at 520 nm after 20 min. The ascorbic acid concentration was calculated by comparison of the values obtained with an L-ascorbic acid standard curve.

# 3.3.12 Soluble sugars

Soluble sugars were extracted and determined according to Liu et al. (1999). Freezedried, ground material (0.10 g d.wt) was mixed with 10 mL of 80 % (v/v) ethanol and homogenized for 60 s. Thereafter, the mixture was incubated in an 80 °C water bath for 60 min and kept at 4 °C overnight. After centrifugation at 12 000 x g for 15 min at 4 °C, the supernatant was filtered through glass wool and taken to dryness in a Savant Vacuum Concentrator (SpeedVac, Savant, NY, USA). Dried samples were re-suspended in 2 mL of ultra-pure water, filtered through 0.45  $\mu$ m nylon filters and analyzed using refractometer to give Brix % reading of total soluble solutes. The concentration of individual sugars was determined by comparison with authentic sugar standards.

# 3.3.13 Statistical analysis

Statistical Analysis was performed using GenStat (version 17.0; VSN International, Hemel Hempstead, UK). Standard deviation values were calculated and differences among treatments were separated by the least significant difference (LSD) at P=0.05.

#### 3.4 Results and discussion

#### 3.4.1 Total antioxidants

The TAOC capacity of the ALVs evaluated by FRAP and DPPH assays is presented in Fig 3.1. There were significant differences at in TAOC among all vegetables. Almost all the vegetable types showed increasing trend in TAOC from 2 WAT towards maturity. However, amaranth was dominating in its total antioxidant capacity during 4 to 6 WAT, with total antioxidants content (TOAC) of 3174.91; 2245.56; 2381.56 mmol Fe2 SO4 100g<sup>-1</sup> DW, *Amaranthus hybridus*, Green cabbage and Red cabbage, respectively. These findings are in agreement with studies by Tesfay and his team (unpublished work, 2014), which showed increasing antioxidant content of indigenous leafy vegetables over time. This has also been confirmed by correlation analysis among different studied parameters (data not presented). The increasing total antioxidant content of ALVs could be from various environmental status and cellular mechanisms.



FIGURE 3.1: TAO contents for *Amaranthus hybridus*, *Brassica oleracea*, *brassica oleracea var. capitata f. rubra* over different growing period. Vertical bars represent ± SE. (n=5). WAT – Weeks After Transplanting

Antioxidants are substances that are capable of inhibiting the oxidation of other substances; they are nature's defense against the damaging effects of free radicals or Reactive

Oxygen Species (ROS), guarding cellular and DNA structures against oxidation (Kerchev and Ivanov, 2008, Murugan *et al.*, 2013).

Free radicals are unstable, highly reactive molecules that damage the protein, DNA, lipid and leading to side- effects associated with plant necrosis and wilting and cell death (Rahmnan, 2007; Arora *et al.*, 2002; Hatamzadeh *et al.*, 2011; Sharma *et al.*, 2012). When chain reaction is formed from metabolic activities with induced stress, antioxidant activity is required to break the chain reaction.

The antioxidant activity of fruits and vegetables depend on a variety of factors like lipid composition, antioxidants concentration, temperature, oxygen pressure and presence of other anti-oxidative components like phenols, carotenoids, etc. and food components such as water and nutrients (Rahmana, 2007). Antioxidants can directly scavenge ROS or indirectly by protecting the cells, these activities are referred to as primary and secondary defense mechanism.

#### 3.4.2 Total phenols and Flavonoids

Plant phenolics were significantly different for all vegetables during plant developmental stages (Fig 3.2). Amaranth total phenols increased during early stage of plant development from 2 WAT, accumulated to maximum at 6 WAT (360 mg/100 g DW) and then showed a sharp decrease towards maturity. Exotic vegetables produced these phenols at a relatively decreasing trend towards maturity. Dumas et al., (2003) have also reported the same trend for commercial vegetable phenols. Phenol production, although affected by growth conditions, their biosynthesis is normally stimulated by abiotic factors, such as UV light etc. The greater accumulation of flavonoids in the presence of UV light suggests a protective role against UV damage. It has been reported that these compounds accumulate in leaves of higher plants to screen out harmful UV radiation (Mazza et al., 2000). Increases in flavonoids after exposure to UV light have also been reported in Brassica napus by Olsson et al., (1998). Ryan et al., (1998) reported greater accumulation of flavonoids in response to UV radiation. Furthermore, Krizek et al., (1998) also reported high rates of accumulation of UVabsorbing compounds in lettuce grown in the presence of radiation. Biosynthesis and concentration of phenolic compounds in plants depends on genetic and environmental factors. Plant phenols are known for their anti-oxidative properties; depending on dominant type, they govern plant taste, which impacts consumers' perception. It has been reported that plant phenols might have contributed for taste of amaranthus and also suspected to black jack if they are eaten uncooked. Rahman, et al., (2007) reported phenolic compounds influence seed bitterness and astringency as well as the overall quality of plant. Although ALVs produce high concentration of phenols, in rural communities people still prefer using them as vegetables for household consumption. As this plant (*Amaranthus*) produces high concentration of carbohydrates, mainly fructose; it was thought that plant bitterness as well as astringency could be improved, in the future. While the plant flavonoids were more 2 WAT and 4 WAT (117 and 124 mg/100g DW); there was a linear decrease for all vegetables towards maturity. Plant flavonoids reported to have mutagenic and fatal effect after consumption, therefore noticing its decreasing trend, it has been suggested that, either prepare these vegetables in raw or cooked meal.



FIGURE 3.2: Phenolic and Flavonoids contents of *Amaranthus hybridus*, *Brassica oleracea*, *brassica oleracea var. capitata f. rubra*. Vertical bars represent ± SE. (n=5). WAT – Weeks After Transplanting.

Phenolic compounds play an important role in plant defense or resistance against microbial infections, which are related to reactive oxygen species (ROS). These compounds contribute significantly to the overall healthiness of the plant especially flavonoids, which possess different biological activities, but most important are antioxidant activity (Re *et al.*, 1999, Nautiyal *et al.*, 2008). Many in-vitro studies demonstrate phenolic compounds to have higher antioxidant properties than vitamins and carotenoids antioxidants (Vinson, *et al.*, 1995, Podsedek, 2007)

# 3.4.5 Carotenoids and chlorophyll

The total carotenoids of the studied vegetables were significantly different (Fig 3.3). Amaranthus displayed the highest accumulation of total carotenoids (2.8mg/100g DW) at early stage of plant development and slightly fluctuating over maturity. Most leafy vegetables respond to different types of light having supra-optimal light intensities, they accumulate high concentration of carotenoids during early developmental stages. Having accumulated total carotenoids during early plant development the plant would probably increase its nutritional value. Whereas, the green and red cabbages had reasonable pigment accumulation and unlike amaranthus, pigment accumulation in exotic vegetables exhibited increasing trend towards maturity. Plant carotenoid production pattern at different development stages by ALVs while commercial vegetables increasing with maturity. Similar observations were also reported by Reif (2012) carotenoids production is more likely cultivar specific than growing season.



FIGURE 3.3: Total carotenoids content of *Amaranthus hybridus, Brassica oleracea, brassica oleracea var. capitata f. rubra* over different growing period. Vertical bars represent ± SE. (n=5). WAT – Weeks After Transplanting.

Chlorophyll 'a' content shown in Fig 3.4 was similar among the vegetable types,but amaranthus had the highest chlorophyll 'a' content throughout the observed period. Green and red cabbage had lower chlorophyll 'a' content, but they showed an increasing trend with plant growth, their chlorophyll 'a' amounts were following same trend although they were slight fluctuations with green cabbage having higher contents in the 6<sup>th</sup> week, but red cabbage later regained the second position in chlorophyll content.



FIGURE 3.4: Chlorophyll a content of *Amaranthus hybridus, Brassica oleracea, brassica oleracea var. capitata f. rubra* over different growing period. Vertical bars represent ± SE. (n=5). WAT – Weeks After Transplanting.

Chlorophyll 'b' content shown in Fig 3.5 was fluctuating in all the vegetables; with growth *Amaranthus* had higher contents for most weeks:  $2^{nd}$ ,  $4^{th}$ , and  $8^{th}$  week and green cabbage alternated with red cabbage during weeks 6 and 10, respectively. A decreasing trend was observed after the  $10^{th}$  week for all vegetables, at the end of the trial green cabbage had the highest and red cabbage had the lowest chlorophyll 'b' content.



FIGURE 3.5: Chlorophyll b content of *Amaranthus hybridus, Brassica oleracea, brassica oleracea var. capitata f. rubra* over different growing period. Vertical bars represent ± SE. (n=5). WAT – Weeks After Transplanting.

Chlorophyll (a+b) in Fig 3.6 showed that amaranthus had higher chlorophyll content, followed by the green cabbage and then red cabbage, respectively. Whereas with green cabbage, chlorophyll content increased as it grew to maturity, followed by amaranthus and red Cabbage.



FIGURE 3.6: Chlorophyll (a+b) content of *Amaranthus hybridus*, *Brassica oleracea*, *brassica oleracea var. capitata f. rubra* over different growing period. Vertical bars represent ± SE. (n=5). WAT – Weeks After Transplanting.

#### 3.4.6 Ascorbic acid (Vitamin C)

Plant ascorbic acid (Vitamin C) was significantly different for the vegetables. Its accumulation was also affected by plant developmental stages, amaranth was found dominating in producing ascorbic acid during the first 6 WAT (Fig 3.7) and started to decline towards the end of plant growth. On the contrary, the other vegetables, red and green cabbages, showed increasing trend of total ascorbic acid accumulation over time. ALVs ascorbic acid content showed significant increase during early vegetative development. The higher level of ascorbic acid content in young leaves of ALVs may be attributed to higher concentration of glucose, which is the main precursor in the biosynthesis of L-ascorbic acid. This argument is in agreement with Dumas et al., (2003) who reported leaves of tomato plant produced high concentration of ascorbic acid, which seemed strongly correlated to high concentration of sugar and had direct impact on the biosynthesis of ascorbic acid.



FIGURE 3.7: Ascorbic acid (Vit C) contents of *Amaranthus hybridus*, *Brassica oleracea*, *brassica oleracea var. capitata f. rubra* over different growing period. Vertical bars represent ± SE. (n=5). WAT – Weeks After Transplanting.

#### 3.4.7 Total soluble sugars (TSS)

Total soluble sugars contents of *Amaranthus hybridus* (Amaranthus), *Brassica oleracea* (Green cabbage) and *Brassica oleracea var. capitata f. rubra* (Red Cabbage) are shown in Fig 3.8. There were significant differences (p<0.001) between the total soluble content of the studied vegetables. The exotic leafy vegetables had fluctuating but increasing total soluble sugars towards maturity while the indigenous *A.hybridus* had stably decreasing contents towards

maturity. Green cabbage showed the highest TSS content followed by red cabbage and lastly *amaranthus hybridus*, respectively. Although ALVs produce high concentration of phenols causing bitterness at early stages they have high concentration of soluble sugars. Therefore, rural communities still prefer using them as vegetables for household consumption. Because this plant produces high concentration of carbohydrates, mainly fructose, it was thought in future the plants' bitterness and astringency could be improved.



FIGURE 3.8: Total soluble sugars contents of *Amaranthus hybridus*, *Brassica oleracea*, *brassica oleracea var. capitata f. rubra* over different growing period. Vertical bars represent ± SE. (n=5). WAT – Weeks After Transplanting.

# **3.5 Conclusion**

The key findings of this study are that the African leafy vegetable, *Amaranthus*, had different antioxidant production trends compared to exotic vegetables. Amaranth produced higher content of carbohydrates, carotenoids, ascorbic acid, phenols during 4<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> week after transplanting, whereas the exotic vegetables produce these compounds on approaching to harvesting stage. Consumers of African Leafy Vegetables (ALVs) prefer young tender leaves than older leaves. The sequential harvest nature of ALVs results in increases food access for an extended period. The plant biomass per plant also increases with the number harvests.

#### References

- Arora, A, Sairam, R.K and Srivastava, G.C. 2002. Oxidative stress and antioxidant system in plants. *Curr. Sci.*, 82: 227-1238.
- Benzie, I. F. F and Strain, J. J. 1996. The ferric reducing ability of plasma (FRAP) as a measure of "antioxidant power": the FRAP assay. *Anal. Biochem.*, 23(9): 70-76.
- Böhm, V, Kühnert, S, Rohm, H and Scholze, G. 2006. Improving the nutritional quality of microwave-vacuum dried strawberries: A preliminary study. *Food Sci. Technol. Inter.*, 12: 67-75.
- Bradfrord, M.M. 1976. A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. *Anal. Biochem.*, 72: 248-254.
- Dumas, Y, Dadomo, M, Di lucca, G and Groiler, P. 2003. Review: Effects of environmental factors and agriculture techniques on antioxidant content of tomatoes. J. Sci. Food Agri., 83: 369-382.
- Eghadami, A. and Sadeghi, F. 2010. Determination of total phenolic and flavonoids contents in methalonic and aqueous extract of achillea millefolium. J. Org. chem., 2: 81-84.
- Finau, K.A. 2011. Literature Review on Avocado Oil for SROS technological purposes. Scientific Research Organization of Somoa. Nafanau, Apia.
- Fang, Y, Yang, Sand Wu, G. 2002. Free radicals, antioxidants, and nutrition. *Nutri.*, 18(10): 872-879.
- Hatamzadeh, A, Hatami, M and Ghasemnezhad, M. 2011. Efficiency of salicylic acid delay petal senescence and extended quality of cut spikes of *Gladiolus grandiflora* cv 'wing's sensation'. *A. J. Agri. Res.*, 7(4), (2012): 540-545.
- Kerchev, P and Ivanov, S. 2008. Influence of extraction techniques and solvents on the antioxidant capacity of plant material. *Biotechnol. biotechnol.*, 22: 556-559.
- Krizek, D,T, Britz, S,J and Mirecki, R.M. 1998. Inhibitory effects of ambient levels of solar UV-A and UV-B radiation on growth of cv. New Red Fire lettuce. *Physiol. Plant*, 103: 1-7.

- Kuntz, S, Wenzel, U and Daniel, H. 1999. Comparative analysis of the effects of flavonoids on proliferation, cytotoxity, and apoptosis in human colon cancer cell lines. *Eur. J. Nutr.*, 38(3): 133-142.
- Leong, L. P and Shui, G. 2002. An investigation of antioxidant capacity of fruits in Singapore markets. *Food Chem.*, 76: 69-75.
- Lichtenthaler, H.K. 1987. Chlorophylls and carotenoids: Pigment of photosynthetic biomembranes. *Methods in enzymology*, 148: 148:50-382.
- Liu, X, Robinson, P. W, Madore, M. A, Witney, G. W and Arpaia, M. L. 1999. 'Hass' avocado carbohydrate fluctuations. II. Fruit growth and ripening. *Amer. Soc Hort. Sci.*, 124: 676-681.
- Mazza, C.A, Boccalandro, H.E, Giordano, C.V, Battista, D, Scopel, A.L and Ballaré, C.L. 2000. Functional significance and induction by solar radiation of ultraviolet-absorbing sunscreens in field-grown soybean crops. *Plant Physiol.*, 122: 117-125.
- Miranda, M, Vega-Gálveza, A, Uribea, E, Lópeza, J, Martínez, E, Rodrígueza, M.J, Quispea, I and Di Scalac, K. 2011. Physico-chemical analysis, antioxidant capacity and vitamins of six ecotypes of *chilean quinoa (Chenopodium quinoa* Willd). *Procedia Food Sci.*, 1: 1439-1446.
- Murugan S.B, Reshma, A, Deepika, R, Balamurugan S and Sathishkumar R. 2013. Antioxidant capacities of Amaranthus tristis and Alternanthera sessilis: A comparative study. J. Med. Plants Res., 7(30): 2230-2235.
- Nautiyal, C.S, Govindarajan, R, Lavania, M and Pushpangadan, P. 2008. Novel mechanism of modulating natural antioxidants in functional foods: Involvement of Plant Growth Promoting Rhizobacteria NRRL B-30448. *J agric. Food chem.*, 56: 4474-4481.
- Nnamani, C.V, Oselebe, H.O and Agbatutu, A. 2009. Assessment of nutritional value of three underutilized indigenous leafy vegetable of Ebony State, Nigeria. A. J. Biotech., 8(9): 2321-2324.

- Olsson, L.C, Veit, M, Weissenböck, G, Bornman, J.F. 1998. Differential flavonoid response to enhanced UV-B radiation in *Brassica napus*. *Phytochem.*, 49: 1021-1028.
- Palafox-Carlos, H, Ayala-Zavala, J. F, and González-Aguilar, G.A. 2011. The Role of Dietary Fiber in the Bioaccessibility and Bioavailability of Fruit and Vegetable Antioxidants. J. Food Sci., 76(1): 6-15.
- Plumb, G.W, Lambert, N, Chambers, S.J, Wanigatunga, S, Heaney, R.K and Plumb, J.A. 1996. Are whole extracts and purified glucosinolates from cruciferous vegetables antioxidants? *Free radical res.*, 25: 75-86.
- Podsedek, A. 2007. Natural antioxidants and antioxidant capacity of Brassica vegetables: A review. LWT (40): 1-11.
- Rahman, K. 2007. Studies on free radicals, antioxidants, and co-factors. *Clin. Interv. Aging.*, 2 (2): 219–236.
- Re, R, Pellegrini, N, Proteggente, A, Pannala, A, Yang, M and Rice-Evans, C. 1999. Antioxidant activity applying an improved ABTS radical cation decolorization assay. *Free Radical Bio. Med.*, 26 (9): 1231-1237.
- Reif, C. 2012. Carotenoids as food components in vegetables and their relevance to nutrition and health. ETH.
- Ryan, K.G, Markham, K.R, Bloor, S.J, Bradley, J.M, Mitchell, K.A and Jordan, B.R. 1998. UVB radiation induced increase in quercetin: kaempferol ratio in normal and transgenic lines of *Petunia*. *Photochem. Photobiol.*, 68 (3): 323–330.
- Sharma, P, Jha, B.A, Dubey, R.S and Pessarakli, M. 2012. Reactive oxygen species, oxidative damage, and antioxidative defense mechanism in plants under stressful conditions. J. Bot., 2012: 1-26.
- Sinefu, F. 2011. Bambara ground nut response to controlled environment and planting date associated water stress. Master's thesis, University of KwaZulu-Natal.

- Trombino, S, Serini S, Di Nicuolo, F, Celleno, L, Ando, S and Picci, N. 2004. Antioxidants effect of ferulic acid in asolated mebranes and intact cells: synergistic interaction with β-tocopherol, β-carotene, and ascorbic acid. *J agric. Food chem.*, 52: 2411-2420.
- Vinson, J.A, Dabbag, Y.A, Serry, M.M and Jang, J. 1995. Plant flavnoids, especially tea flavonols, are powerful antioxidants using an in vitro oxidation model for heart disease. *J. Agric. Food Chem.*, 43: 2800-2802.

# **CHAPTER 4**

# Assessment of specific antioxidant enzymes of traditional leafy vegetable Amaranthus hybridus compared to exotic leafy vegetables

#### 4.1 Abstract

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are dangerous to plant and human cell membranes. They are produced during metabolic reactions in living organisms, however when they are in access they are harmful to cells. Leafy vegetables contain enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants that are used to prevent chain reaction that cause harm to plant/human cells. Specific enzyme activity of two exotic leafy vegetables (*Brassica olaracea and Brassica oleracea var. capitata f. rubra*) and indigenous (*Amaranthus hybridus*) leafy vegetables were compared over different growing stages. *Amaranthus* showed dominantly higher enzyme activity over the entire growing period mainly towards maturity beginning at the 4<sup>th</sup> week after transplant to the 6<sup>th</sup> week after transplant. In conclusion, this indigenous leafy vegetable could potentially be utilized as a medicinal plant.

#### **4.2 Introduction**

Fruits and vegetables are an important source of protective foods, which are largely beneficial in human health maintenance and disease prevention (Nnamani *et al.*, 2009). Indigenous leafy vegetables are also recognized as protective foods due to their richness in nutritive antioxidants. They are vegetables that are locally/indigenously grown, mainly under cultivated; cultivated at subsistence or household level (Ekasa *et al.*, 2009). They are also mainly referred to as weeds in other parts of the world. However, they may or may not be confined to that region of locality/ traditional practice (Nnamani *et al.*, 2009). These indigenous leafy vegetables are able to withstand harsh environmental conditions (Ekasa *et al.*, 2009) by

balancing the chemical and metabolic reaction which produces reactive oxygen species (ROS) and antioxidants.

Enzymatic antioxidants catalyze the defense reaction against the damaging effect of free radicals. As with chemical (non-enzymatic) antioxidants, cells are protected by an interacting network of anti-oxidative enzymes (Rahman, 2007, Lobo *et al.*, 2010). Fig 4.1 shows an interactive effect of antioxidants in protecting cells against ROS damage.



**Figure 4.1:** A schematic diagram of cellular production of anti-oxidants and reactive oxygen species (ROS) and their state of metabolic equilibrium affected by different stress factors which may result in cell death (Foyer and Noctor, 2005).

However, their activity as anti-oxidative enzymes largely depends on adequate availability of trace minerals such as selenium, iron, copper, zinc and manganese. It has been reported that inadequate availability of these micronutrient cofactors may impend the activity of anti-oxidative enzymes. Fig 4.2 shows different enzymes and molecules at different stages of mitigating oxidative stress.



**Figure 4.2:** A schematic diagram showing different enzymes required at different stages of free radical production and transforming to an acceptable product ( $H_2O$ ), adapted from Sharma *et al.*, (2012).

Therefore, the presence and activity of enzymes in vegetables is important for plant protection after against ROS. However, indigenous vegetables lack such documented information over growing stage. The aim was to investigate the presence of different enzymes and their activities at different stages of plant growth.

# 4.3 Materials and methods

#### 4.3.1 Plant material

Amaranth (*Amaramthus hybridus*) was collected from the University of Kwa-Zulu Natal farm (UKULINGA research farm). Brassica oleracea and Brassica oleracea var. rubra captiva were purchased from local seed supplier HYGROTECH®. The plants were grown in the tunnels and sampled weekly for lab analysis

#### 4.3.2 Analyses

#### 4.3.2.1 Total soluble protein extraction

Total soluble proteins were extracted according to Kanellis and Kalaitzis (1992) with slight modifications. Frozen mesocarp tissue powder (1 g DW) was extracted in 5 mL 50 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 7.4 containing 0.2 M NaCl, 20 mM MgSO4, 1 mM EDTA, 5 mM  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol, 0.5 mM PMSF, 10 mM leupeptin, and 10 % (v/v) glycerol). The mixture was allowed to stand on ice for 15 min and then centrifuged at 20000 g for 20 min. The supernatant was used for enzyme assays after being passed through Miracloth®.

#### 4.3.2.2Total protein assay for determination of enzyme activity

The Bradford micro-assay was used to determine the protein content of the samples (Bradford 1976). Bradford dye reagent was prepared by diluting the dye concentrate with distilled water 1:4. The dye (1 mL) was added to test tubes containing 20  $\mu$ L sample extract, mixed and incubated at room temperature for 5 min. Samples were then read spectrophotometrically at 595 nm and the protein concentration determined by comparing results with a standard curve constructed using bovine serum albumin (BSA).

#### 4.3.2.3 Superoxide dismutase (SOD)

SOD (E.C. 1.15.1.1) activity was determined by measuring the ability of the enzyme to inhibit the photochemical reduction of nitroblue tetrazolium chloride (NBT), as described by Giannopolitis and Ries (1977). The reaction solution (3 mL) contained 1.5 mM NBT, 0.12 mM riboflavin, 13 mM methionine, 0.1 M EDTA, 67 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.8), and contained 10 to 100  $\mu$ L enzyme extract. Riboflavin was added last and tubes were shaken and placed under fluorescent lighting with an intensity 8.42  $\mu$ mol m-2 s-1. Blanks and controls were determined by withholding illumination and without addition of enzyme, respectively. The absorbance's of
the illuminated and non-illuminated solutions were determined spectrophotometrically at 560 nm. One unit of SOD activity was defined as the amount of enzyme inhibiting 50% NBT photoreduction. The results were expressed as Units x (mg protein)-1= 1000 x ( $\mu$ g enzyme extract resulting in  $\frac{1}{2}$  max. inhibition)-1. Where  $\frac{1}{2}$  max. inhibition was determined using pure enzyme dilution 0, 20, 40, 60, 80, 100 factor of BHT (Butylated hydroxytoluene).

### 4.3.2.4 Catalase (CAT) activity assay

A method originally described by Beers and Sizer (1952) was used with slight modifications to determine CAT (E.C.1.11.1.6) activity. The reaction solution (3 mL) contained 0.05 M potassium phosphate (pH 7.0), 0.059 M hydrogen peroxide, 0.1 mL enzyme extract and 1.9 mL distilled water. To start the reaction, the mixture, in absence of enzyme extract was incubated for 4 to 5 min to achieve temperature equilibration (25 °C) and to establish a blank rate. To this mixture 0.1 mL diluted enzyme extract was added and the disappearance of  $H_2O_2$ was followed spectrophotometrically every 20 s for 3 min via the decrease in absorbance at 240 nm. The change in absorbance ( $\Delta$ 240 nm/min) from the initial (20 s) in the linear portion of the curve was calculated. One unit of CAT activity was defined as the amount that decomposes one µmol  $H_2O_2$ . Enzyme activity was reported as Units/mg protein using the following equation: Units/mg protein = ( $\Delta$ 240/min x 1000) x (43.6 x mg enzyme/mL of reaction mixture)-1.

### 4.3.2.5 Peroxide activity (POX) assay

Peroxidase (E.C. 1.11.1.7) activity was assayed according to Reuveni et al., (1992) by measuring the oxidation of guaiacol as the increase in absorbance at 470 nm from 0 to 3 min. The reaction mixture contained 15 mM of phosphate buffer buffer (pH 6.0) and 100  $\mu$ L enzyme extract in a total volume of 1 mL. The reaction was initiated by adding 500  $\mu$ L substrate, which consisted of a 30 mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and 80.7 mM guaiacol solution (o-methoxy-phenol). The peroxidase activity was calculated as the change in absorbance over a 3 min period and expressed as units

per milligram of protein: Units/mg protein =  $(\Delta 470/\text{min}*1000)*(26.6* \text{ mg enzyme/mL of reaction mixture})-1$ .

### 4.3.2.6 Lipid Peroxidation

Lipid peroxidation MDA (mmol g-1d wt) was measured according to Hodges et al., (1999). Two milliliters of extraction solution and 3 mL 0.5% TBA including 5% TCA were mixed vigorously. The mixture was heated at 95°C in a constant temperature water bath for 30 min and then cooled in ice to room temperature. After centrifuging at 5000 g for 15 min, the supernatant was detected at 450, 532 and 600 nm. The concentration of MDA was determined using the formula CMDA ( $\mu$ mol mL-1) = 6.45 × (D532-D600)-0.56×D450, where D450, D532 and D600 are the absorbencies at 450, 532 and 600 nm, respectively.

All the results obtained for enzyme activity were from the same sample extract of proteins.

## 4.3.2.7 Statistical analysis

Analyses of variance between tissues and growing months, and correlation analyses among tissue parameters were performed using GenStat version 17. Standard deviation values were calculated where a significant variance was found at P < 0.05 between individual values.

## 4.4 Results and Discussion

## 4.4.1 Protein

There were no significant differences (P>0.001) in the protein amounts of studied vegetables. However, all vegetables showed an increasing trend towards maturity where all

studied vegetables reached their maximum protein content at 5 weeks after transplant, red cabbage (7.42 mg/g of DW), green cabbage (6.88 mg/g DW) and amaranth (6.16 mg/g), while the protein content of exotic vegetables decreased significantly after the  $5^{th}$  harvest while amaranth had slower decrease, Fig 4.3.

The protein increase towards maturity may be due to high metabolic rate which results in accumulation of plant metabolites required by the plant at a later stage for quality maintenance during storage. The increase in protein would also aid in enzyme activity as enzymes function well with high protein content, substrate concentrations(s), at optimum pH, ionic strength and nature of salts present, and temperature (Scopes, 2002).



FIGURE 4.3: Protein content of different studied leafy vegetables AM (*Amaranthus hybridus*), GC (Green Cabbage), RC (Red Cabbage) over 6 weeks harvest period. Vertical bars represent ± SE. (n=5).

## 4.4.2 Lipid peroxidation

Lipid peroxidation is an oxidative degradation of lipids resulting in cell membrane damage due to chain reaction of ROS. There were no significant differences in lipid peroxidation across all the studied vegetables. Red cabbage seemed to be fluctuating more steadily than green cabbage and *A.hybridus*, green cabbage had the highest lipid peroxidation up to 4WAT and decreased onwards while amaranth increased from 5 WAT. The high lipid peroxidation at the early stages of plant growth are due to cell immaturity, thus more susceptible to ROS by products of high metabolic rate and later at maturity stage especially for amaranth with a short growing period are due to cell ageing, thus also more susceptible to ROS.



FIGURE 4.4: Lipid Peroxidation of different studied leafy vegetables AM (*Amaranthus hybridus*), GC (Green Cabbage), RC (Red Cabbage) over 6 weeks harvest period. Vertical bars represent ± SE. (n=5).

## 4.4.3 Enzymatic antioxidants (POD, CAT, SOD)

The plant enzymatic antioxidants had significant differences over maturity. Plant SOD was dominant for amaranth compared to the commercial vegetables (Fig 4.2). Their activity increased the first few weeks after transplanting and declined when approaching the final phase (120-160U/mg/min). CAT and POD responded in a similar way, but the ALV appeared dominating. It was also noticed that activity of these enzymes was increasing, CAT (> 80160U/mg/min) and POD (>49160U/mg/min) during 4 WAT towards 6 WAT. The increase in enzyme activity during the first weeks of plant development could be associated with the plants high metabolic rate, resulting in the accumulation of oxidants and the plant counter this by producing antioxidants to create a redox balance within the cell. The SOD may have dismutase activity which converts singlet oxygen radicals into hydrogen peroxide, and the CAT activity can then possibly increase as regulated by accumulation of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> accumulation in early to middle developmental stages possibly coincided with increased SOD, CAT and POD activities, which suggests that  $H_2O_2$  acts as a signaling molecule. Thereafter, the gradually decreasing SOD, CAT and POD activities presumably led to an increase in OH levels in later developmental stages. It is suspected that, in the later stages, more  $H_2O_2$  is likely to transform to OH so as to breakdown polysaccharide and mediated the lignification of old fully matured leaf.



Figure 4.5: Ezymic antioxidants (CAT, POD, SOD) of different studied leafy vegetables AM (*Amaranthus hybridus*), GC (Green Cabbage), RC (Red Cabbage) over 6 weeks harvest period. Vertical bars represent ± SE. (n=5). WAT – Weeks After Transplanting.

### **4.4 Conclusions**

Plants have different metabolic reaction rates at different growth stages, during reactions ROS which are harmful to cells are released shown by lipid peroxidation (Fig 4.4), therefore mechanisms of mitigating effect of these ROS are required. High metabolic rates are mainly experienced in early stages of plant growth (Fig 4.4) therefore high mitigating activity is mainly required at these stages of plant growth (Fig 4.5), also at the early stages of plant growth, plants are more susceptible to different harsh environmental effects.

Diverse environmental stresses differentially affect plant processes that lead to loss of cellular homeostasis accompanied by the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which causes oxidative damage to membrane, lipids, proteins and nucleic acids (Srivalli *et al.*, 2003). The fluctuating lipid peroxidation results (Fig 4.4) are not fully understood, however in the early stages it might be due to premature leaf abscission, and late growth stages might be due to leaf senescence shown by Dhindsa et al., 1981 on Nicotiana tabacum L. leaves and increased peroxidation has been reported on ageing animals by Packer *et al.*, (1967). The coordinate function of antioxidant enzymes such as SOD, CAT, POX (Fig 4.3) and GPx assist in processing of ROS and regeneration of redox ascorbate and glutathione metabolites (Halliwell, 1974; Wise, 1995; Foyer and Nector, 2000). The oxidative damage to cellular components is limited under normal growing conditions due to efficient processing of ROS through a well-coordinated and rapidly responsive antioxidant system consisting of several enzymes and redox metabolites.

Lipid peroxidation (Fig 4.4) requires active  $O_2$  uptake (Bor, *et al.*, 2002) this process results in production of superoxide radical ( $O_2^-$ ) (Fridovich, 1975). The  $O_2^-$  is produced by a process of phosphorylation; this  $O_2^-$  is then converted to hydrogen peroxide by SOD, than further reduced catalase to peroxidase (Mao *et al.*, 1992). Conjugated action of enzymes is much more effective than sole action by an enzyme this is shown by transgenic studies by Ho et al., (1998) which showed the importance of enzyme activity in protecting animals against injuries. Ismail et al., (2010) showed the importance of SOD, CAT and GPx on hepatic tissue from children with chronic cholestatic liver disease. The relative high activity of *A.hybridus* CAT, POD, POX enzymes can aid in some medical conditions associated with active oxygen reactions.

SOD, CAT and POX (Fig 4.5) are the major antioxidant enzymes in pant systems, which exert their effect in different pathways shown by different scientific works (Yücel *et al.*, 2014).

The most famous pathways is the phosphorylation process (Fuhler *et al.*, 2011) that releases superoxide, which is first converted into hydrogen peroxide and further converted to peroxide. The plant system constitutes, enzymes and redox metabolites work synergic to mitigate the effect of ROS on plant cells. In this study, it is meritable enough to show that the horticultural plants of interest possess systems to protect themselves from oxidative damages during their different stages of development.

Both indigenous and exotic leafy vegetables showed similar trends in enzyme activity through different growth stages although indigenous had higher activity.

## References

- Arbona, V, Flors, V, Jacas, J, Graciai-Agustin, P and Gomez-Genas A. 2003. Enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidant responses of Carrizo citrange, a salt-snsitive citrus rootstock, to different salinity levels. *Plant cell physiol.*, 44(4): 388-394.
- Beers, R.F and Sizer, I.W. 1952. Spectrophotometric method for measuring the breakdown of hydrogen peroxide by catalase. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 195: 133-140.
- Dhindsa, R.S, Plumb-Dhindsa, P and Thorpe T.A. 1981. Leaf Senescence: Correlated with increased levels of membrane permeability and lipid peroxidation, and decrease levels of Superoxide dismutase and catalase. *J. Expe. Bot.*, 32(126): 93-101.
- Ekesa, B.N, Walingo, M.K and Abukutsa-Onyango, M.O. 2009. Accessibility to and consumption of Indigenous vegetables and fruits by rural households in matungu division, Western Kenya. *Afr. J. Food Agric. Nutri. Dev.*, 9 (8): 1725-1733.
- Foyer, C.H and Noctor, G. 2000. Oxygen processing in photosynthesis: Regulation and signaling. *New phytol.*, 146: 359-388.
- Foyer, C.H., Noctor, G., 2005. Redox homeostasis and anti-oxidant signaling: A metabolic interface between stress perception and physiological responses. *Plant Cell*, 17: 1866-1875.
- Fuhler, M.G, Sander H.D, Peppelenbosch, M.P and William, G. 2011. Widespread Deregulation of Phosphorylation-Based Signaling Pathways in Multiple Myeloma Cells: Opportunities for Therapeutic Intervention. *Mol. Med.*, 17(7-8): 790–798.
- Giannopolitis, C.N and Reis, S.K. 1997. Superoxide dismutase I. Occurrence in higher plants. *Plant Physiol.*, 59: 309-314.
- Halliwell, B. 1974. Hydroxylation of p-Coumaric acid by illuminated chloroplasts: The role of superoxide. *Eur. J. Biochem.*, 55, (1975): 355-360.
- Ho, Y.S, Magnenat, J.L, Gargano, M and Cao, J. 1998. The nature of antioxidant defense mechanisms: a lesson from transgenic studies. *Env. Health Perspect.*, 106 (5): 1219-1228.

- Hodges, D.M, Delong, J.M, Forney, C.F and Prange, R.K.1999. Improving the thiobarbituric acidreactive-substances assay for estimating lipid peroxidation in plant tissue containing anthocyanin and other interfering compounds. *Planta*, 207: 604-611.
- Ismail, N.A, Sawsan H, Okasha, A, Dhawan, A, Abdel-Rahman, O, Shaker, O.G and Sadik, N.A. 2010. Antioxidant Enzyme Activities in Hepatic Tissue from Children with Chronic Cholestatic Liver Disease. Saudi J. Gastroenterology, 16(2):90-94.
- Lobo, V, Patil, A, Phatak, A and Chandra, N. 2010. Free radicals, antioxidants and functional foods: Impact on human health. *Pharmacogn. Rev.*, 4 (8): 118–126.
- Packer, L, Deamer, D.W and Heath, R. L. 1967. Regulation and deterioration of structure in membrane. *Adv. Gerontol. Res.*, 2: 77-120.
- Rahman, K. 2007. Studies on free radicals, antioxidants, and co-factors. *Clin. Interv. Aging.*, 2 (2): 219–236.
- Reuveni, R, Shimoni, M, Karchi, Z and Kuć, J.1992. Peroxidase activity as biochemical marker for resistance of muskmelon (*Cucumis melo*) to *Pseudoperonospora cubensis*. *Phytopathol.*, 82: 749-753.
- Scopes, R.K. 2002. Enzymes activity and assays. *Encl. life sci*. Macmillan Publishers Ltd, Nature Publishing Group, (www.els.net). (Accessed 23/05/2014).
- Sharma, P, Jha, B.A, Dubey, R.S and Pessarakli, M. 2012. Reactive oxygen species, oxidative damage, and antioxidative defense mechanism in plants under stressful conditions. J. Bot., 2012: 1-26.
- Srivalli, B, Sharma, G and Khanna-Chopra, R. 2003. Antioxidative defense system in an upland rice cultivar subjected to increasing intensity of water stress followed by recovery. *Plant Physiol.*, 119: 503-512.
- Wise, R.R. 1995. Chilling-enhanced photooxidation: the production, action and study of reactive oxygen species produced during chilling in the light. *Photosynth. Res.*, 45: 79-97.

Yücel, K.C, Bor, M and Ryser, P. 2014. Interspecific diversity in root antioxidative enzyme activities reflect root turnover strategies and preferred habitats in wetland graminoids. *Ecol. Evol.*, 4(6): 831–840.

# **GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION**

This study was undertaken based on the hypothesis that indigenous African leafy vegetables can be used to substitute or in conjunction with available exotic leafy vegetables and other food types to aid combat the problem of malnutrition and food security.

A seed quality analysis of indigenous *Amaranthus hybridus* was done on different coloured seeds red and white gold. Germination viability was tested under controlled laboratory conditions with a temperature variation of 17.3/26.5 °C for 7 days. Red coloured seeds were found to have higher germination percentage than white coloured seeds, to further test seed quality electrolyte leakage (EC), total antioxidants capacity and activity were measured. Red coloured seeds had higher electrolyte leakage which suggested red coloured seeds to be of lower vigor than white gold seeds, antioxidant capacity and activity was also higher in red coloured seeds which is in contradiction with Mavi, (2010) findings, that brown seed lot had lower electrolyte leakage than light coloured seed lot. Therefore, in the current study high electrolyte leakage was subsequently associated with high total soluble solutes content of red coloured seeds. Red coloured seeds were then germinated on seedling trays and transplanted to growth pots, along with comparable brassica leafy vegetables. These vegetables were harvested weekly, freeze dried, ground and stored under -72 °C for biochemical/antioxidants analysis.

From this study it was shown that *A.hybridus* leafy vegetable had high and comparable (to exotic leafy vegetables) measured phytonutrients. The studied vegetables exhibited antioxidant properties, due to both enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidant contents. Non-enzymatic antioxidants were significantly different within and between the studied leafy vegetables, with indigenous *A.hyridus* having higher contents than the exotic leafy vegetables. Enzymatic antioxidant type and activity fluctuated between and within the compared leafy vegetables. The maximum contents and activity of enzymes were mainly reached between the 4<sup>th</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> week after transplant, therefore this is the ideal time of harvest for indigenous leafy vegetable studied, this results supports the growth pattern of *A.hybridus* which is continuous young leaves harvest (Daff, 2010). Both enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidant activity were maximal at the optimum harvest time.

Different types of antioxidants, food species along with food types have been proven to work better in synergetic rather than individually (Yang, *et al.*, 2009; dos Santos *et al.*, 2010; Jain *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, quantifying and comparing different types of antioxidants of different food species, is considered more significant than quantifying single type and specie with no comparison to other types or species.

High antioxidant content in fruits and vegetables is beneficial to human health (Bjelakovic and Gluud, 2007; Rao and Rao, 2007; Heiting, 2014), Therefore the study proved that *A.hybridus* leafy vegetable can be used for human health benefits, as a supplement to current spectrum of antioxidant sources or as a main source for "poor" communities which have limited resources, and as such are unable to access commercial leafy vegetables and other antioxidant sources. Other indigenous leafy vegetables can also be used in conjunction i.e. Black jack which has been studied by Mbokazi *et al.*, (unreported work).

## FUTURE RESEARCH AND COMMERCIAL APPLICATION

Studies on the growth requirements and parameters are required to increase the scientific knowledge regarding indigenous plants:

- Seed quality attributes regarding the hybridization of all off springs of *A.hybridus* and how the seeds performs under different environmental conditions.
- Plants stand performance under different environmental conditions, stress-full conditions;
  i.e. time taken to flower under water scarce conditions, high temperatures, etc.

Postharvest requirements relating to packaging material and storage requirements with primarily measuring primary and secondary metabolites and their specifics i.e. C7 sugar contents which have been found to be associated storability and postharvest quality (Bertilng and Bower, 2005; Bertling and Tesfay 2011).

✤ More intense studies are required on indigenous leafy vegetables quality attributes regarding nutritional and non-nutritional attributes.

Laboratory research alone will not effectively help in alleviating food security issues, therefore community outreach studies are also required for community awareness and preferences on the indigenous leafy vegetables studied.

## References

- Bertilng, I and Bower, J.P. 2005. Sugars as energy sources is there link to avocado fruit quality? South African Avocado Growers' Association Yearbook, 28: 24-27.
- Bertling, I and Tesfay, S.Z. 2011. Avocado sugars key to postharvest shelf life? Unpublished thesis, University of KwaZulu-Natal; also available in: VII world avocado congress Australia (*www.worldavocadocongress2011.com*).
- Bjelakovic, G and Gluud, C. 2007. Surviving Antioxidant Supplements. JNCI, 99(10): 742-743.
- Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF). 2010. Amaranthus: Production guideline. Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, Pretoria, South Africa.
- dos Santos, V.A. F.M, dos Santos, D.P, Castro-Gamboa, I, Zanoni, M.V.B and Furlan, M. 2010.
  Evaluation of antioxidant capacity and synergistic associations of Quinonemethide
  Triterpenes and phenolic Substances from *Maytenus ilicifolia* (Celastraceae). *Mol.*, 15:
  6956-6973.
- Heiting, G. 2014. Vitamin C and Bioflavonoids: Powerful eye antioxidants. All about vision. (http://www.allaboutvision.com/nutrition/vitamin\_c.html).
- Jain, D.P, Pancholi, S.S and Patel, R. 2011. Synergistic antioxidant activity of green tea with some herbs. *J. Adv. Pharm. Technol. Res.* 2(3): 177-183.
- Mavi, K. 2010. The relationship between seed coat color and seed quality in watermelon Crimson sweet. *Hort. Sci. (Prague)*, 37(2): 62-69.
- Rao, A.V and Rao, L.G. 2007. Carotenoids and human health. *Pharmacological Res.*, 55: 207–216.
- Yang, W.J, Li, D.P, Li. J.K, Li, M.H, Chen, Y.L and Zhang, P.Z. 2009. Synergistic antioxidant activities of eight traditional Chinese herb pairs. *Biol. Pharm Bull.*, 32(6): 1021-1026.